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Chief Executive’s report  

Pūrongo a te Tumuaki 

 

E ngā iwi, e ngā karangatanga, te iti me te rahi, tēnā koutou, tēnā tātou 

Kei te haere tonu ngā mahi a te Manatū Taonga, arā te tautoko, te hāpai, te poipoi i ngā mahi 
ahurea, mahi toi, mahi hītori o Aotearoa katoa 

Ko tō mātou aronga ko te ngākau titikaha, ko te hononga tangata, ko tō mātou arotahi ko te 
hono i te iwi nui tonu ki te ahurea o Aotearoa 

Nā reira me mahi tahi tātou mō te oranga o ngā tāngata katoa 

Kia ora tātou 

 

I am pleased to present the 2017/18 annual report for Manatū Taonga Ministry for Culture and 
Heritage. 

Culture reflects, connects and inspires us, telling the story of who we are as a country. Culture is also 
vital to individual and community wellbeing and resilience, creating thriving and connected 
communities. 

The last 12 months have included a focus on strengthening our own organisation to champion and 
deliver on this.  We established a new common purpose: He ngākau titikaha, he hononga tangata – 
promoting a confident and connected culture.  Together with new values and behaviours – 
manawanui (act courageously), matakite (see ahead), mana tāngata (care together), mahara (think, 
be curious) and manaaki (serve with pride) this describes our collective understanding of what we do 
and how we do it. 

Through Tō mātou arotahi (Our direction) we aim to connect more people with New Zealand’s 
culture.   

The WW100 Programme has helped people engage with the events of the First World War, a war 
which had a deep and lingering impact on our society.  This year the Walking with an Anzac 
educational resource, including discovery boxes containing First World War ephemera and digital 
support information, was distributed to 1000 classrooms. Feedback indicates it’s been a huge 
success with teachers and students.  

In support of Suffrage 125 we published new online content, such as History of Women, the Vote 
and Activism in New Zealand, on our NZHistory site. And progress with the Te Tai Treaty Settlement 
Stories project will see the launch later this year of the first iwi audio-visual resources, focusing on 
the Ngāti Awa settlement story. 

Tā tātou kaupapa matua (What matters to us) includes creating opportunities for New Zealanders to 
engage with Māori culture.  Next year’s national commemoration Tuia Encounters 250 will take a 
broad and inclusive view to acknowledge both the pivotal moment in our nation’s history when Māori 
and Europeans held their first onshore meetings 250 years ago, and the feats of the Pacific voyagers 
who reached and settled here centuries earlier.  

Through tā tātou kaupapa matua we also aim to champion participation in arts and culture for our 
diverse society, invest in core infrastructure to provide people with these opportunities, and help care 
for the nation’s taonga and identity. 



 

Ministry for Culture and Heritage Annual Report 2017-18/ 4 
 

The Regional Culture and Heritage Fund has supported 13 cultural organisations to complete capital 
projects with $24.333 million in funding since 2016; these include the Nelson School of Music, the 
Meteor Theatre in Hamilton and the award winning Te Awahou Nieuwe Stroom in Foxton.  Alongside 
this the Heritage EQUIP programme assisted private building owners to earthquake strengthen 
buildings with $2 million in grants from Napier and Whanganui to Hurunui and Oamaru. 

As guardians of taonga we organised interim care for 320 newly found taonga tūturu. In April we 
facilitated the successful return of 37 taonga tūturu to three Northland marae after many of them 
received conservation treatment due to the fragile condition they were found in.  

With Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga and the Department of Conservation Te Papa Atawhai 
we extended Landmarks Whenua Tohunga, the programme showcasing New Zealand's culturally 
and historically important places and their stories, into the Otago region in December.  

Post-election 2017 our work has focussed on the Government’s priorities for arts, culture and 
heritage.  

Budget 2018 provided a significant 35 per cent increase to our baseline funding.  This first increase 
in 10 years, sees $23.3 million over the next four years enable us to lead Government’s programme 
for a thriving cultural sector with improved access and participation in cultural activities and greater 
support for sustainable careers.  

Work to strengthen the country’s built heritage protection system began in July.  Targeted 
stakeholder engagement and workshops have been completed in all major centres.  Interest was 
greater than we anticipated: there are strong views on what improvements could be made to the New 
Zealand built heritage protection system.  Results of the engagement are due to Ministers in October 
together with preliminary options for future work. 

We are working in partnership with the Waitangi National Trust and the Ministry of Business, 
Innovation and Employment on the development of a museum commemorating the Māori Battalion 
at the Waitangi Treaty Grounds.   

The Ministry is working closely with Te Puni Kōkiri, Te Taura Whiri and other agencies on the 
development of the Maihi Karauna - the Government’s new Māori Language Strategy to revitalise te 
reo Māori, one of the official languages of New Zealand. 

The National Archival and Library Institutions (NALI) Ministerial Group is established and has met 
several times to consider how we might strengthen the contribution that national libraries and 
archives can make to New Zealand’s culture and democracy.  Stakeholder engagement for the NALI 
Ministerial Group was completed in August with over 150 submissions received.  

The Ministry is undertaking a research project on the contribution of cultural life and heritage to New 
Zealand’s resilience to natural disasters.   This stewardship project, due to Ministers in December, 
looks at natural hazards and their impact on cultural life and heritage, and spans the cultural sector, 
including sport and recreation, arts, media and heritage.  

We are also making good progress towards a national memorial to recognise the 257 people who 
died in the 1979 airline crash on Mt Erebus. 

We have established the Cabinet mandated Ministerial Advisory Group on public media to start the 
process of strengthening New Zealand’s public media system. Funding of $15 million in Budget 2018 
will kick-start this work.  

Pukeahu National War Memorial Park continues to be a focus for us all to reflect on this country’s 
contribution in times of conflict. During the year a further three memorials were added to the Park, 
from the United Kingdom, Belgium and France. The four-year renovation of the National Carillon 
completed the multimillion dollar restoration and earthquake strengthening of the National War 
Memorial.   
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These achievements are due to the efforts of committed staff who have worked tirelessly throughout 
the year. A bouquet also goes to our sector agencies and particularly the many volunteers who work 
to support arts and culture in communities throughout Aotearoa.  

My thanks to you all. 

 

 

 

 
Paul James 
Chief Executive 
Manatū Taonga Ministry for Culture and Heritage  
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Performance information 
Pārongo whakatinana mahi  
 

This section reports on our 2017/18 non-financial performance. Our key achievements are detailed 

under each of the Ministry’s five medium term priorities, followed by reporting against the 

performance measures in the 2018 Estimates. 

2017/18 was a period of change with a revised strategy 

During 2017 we refocused our strategy to describe our role in maximising a collective impact for the 

sector in a simple and coherent way. This was followed by development of a new strategic intentions 

document based around the Ministry’s overall common purpose: 

He ngākau titikaha, he hononga tangata 

Promoting a confident and connected culture 

We also defined the key enduring priorities that influence the Ministry’s work programme. These 

priorities are used to guide not only what we do but how we do it: 

 

 

The new strategy does not propose an immediate or fundamental change in the Ministry’s activities. 

The above enduring priorities will influence our focus over time. In 2017/18 our focus was on aligning 

the Ministry’s organisational culture with the new strategy.  

Work is underway within the Ministry to develop new indicators of success that describe culture’s 

impact on wellbeing through the Treasury’s Living Standards Framework. 
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New Government Priorities 

The new Coalition Government from the election in 2017 also brought a significant change. We have 

developed and aligned our work programme to contribute to Ministers’ key priority areas: 

• Access and participation: All New Zealanders can access and participate in cultural 

experiences  

• Sustainable growth: The cultural sector is supported and growing sustainably  

• National identity: New Zealanders share a distinct and inclusive identity and value our 

history and traditions. 

We contribute to these priorities through the range of initiatives set out in the strategic intentions, 

with achievements to date described in this annual report. 

Update to the Ministry’s Strategic Intentions for 2019-2022 

The Ministry has reflected the above changes in strategy and government priorities in its revised 

Strategic Intentions 2019-2022 document, published alongside this annual report. The revised 

document will shape the Ministry’s activities in future years. 

Section 38 of the Public Finance Act 1989 requires departments to prepare information on strategic 

intentions, and provide this to the responsible Minister every three years. 

The Ministry provided its last Strategic Intentions document to the previous Minister for Arts, Culture 

and Heritage in June 2015. This means the revised Strategic Intentions 2019-22 was due June 2018. 

The Ministry provided its revised Strategic Intentions to the Minister during September 2018, and 

therefore did not meet the legislative timeframe. The Ministry deferred completion of the document 

to better incorporate emerging Ministerial priorities under the new government, and reflect the 

outcome of Budget 2018. 

Progress towards our existing strategic intentions 

The Ministry’s existing strategic intentions are contained within the Statement of Intent 2015-19. This 

is based on the Cultural Sector Strategic Framework 2014-2018.  

The Cultural Sector Strategic Framework sets out four outcomes: 

Create 

Cultural and sporting practitioners and 
organisations create, produce and distribute a 
broad range of cultural works, experiences and 
activities, distinctively ‘New Zealand’ in form, 
voice and/or content. Creative talent and 
innovation enhance our way of life and make a 

valued contribution to the economy and society. 

Engage 

New Zealanders and international audiences 
increasingly access and engage with taonga and 
other cultural works, places and activities with 
enjoyment and understanding. 

Preserve 
Cultural practitioners and organisations collect, 
record, protect and present taonga for the benefit 
of present and future New Zealanders. 

Excel 

High achieving, talented and innovative cultural 
and sporting practitioners inspire high 
achievement in others, leading to enhanced 
social and economic well-being and community 
and national pride. 

Five priorities were set to maximise the impact on the four outcomes above. The Ministry’s 

contributions during 2017/18 are detailed below, as well as high-level indicators of New Zealander’s 

access and participation in arts, culture, heritage, media and sports activities.  
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Priority 1: Fostering an inclusive New Zealand Identity 

The Ministry’s aim is that New Zealanders have a strong shared sense of attachment to New 

Zealand, value diversity and are actively participating in our cultural life and democracy. The New 

Zealand identity is strong globally. 

This priority is central to all of the Ministry’s work. The Ministry contributes to this through provision 

of policy advice, producing authoritative resources about New Zealand’s nationhood and identity, 

the national commemorations programme, and maintaining national memorials and graves. 

Significant activities that contributed to this priority in 2017/18 include: 

• National Commemorations programme Page 24 

• First World War Centenary Commemorations Page 30 

• Strengthening public media Page 16 

• Cultural International Development Programme Page 29 

 

Indicators of progress 

1 Sense of belonging in New 

Zealand: 

8.6 out of 10 

Well-being statistics1 

published by Statistics New 

Zealand (2017) 

This result shows people’s perceptions of their sense of 

belonging, and is considered a strong result. Note this overall 

indicator is accompanied by a variety of supporting data, such as 

the importance of Māori culture, sporting or artistic achievement 

in defining New Zealand. These are available on the Statistics 

New Zealand website. 

This was the first time this data was collected, and will be updated 

in 2019. 

2 Ease of expressing identity in 

New Zealand 

87% 

Well-being statistics 

published by Statistics New 

Zealand (2017) 

This result shows the percentage of people who say it is ‘easy’ or 

‘very easy’ to express their identity in New Zealand. 

The 2017 results are consistent with the previous survey from 

2014. 

3 Active participation in arts 

and culture 

80% 

New Zealanders and the Arts 

2017 survey published by 

Creative New Zealand.  

The 2017 survey uses a new methodology and has restated prior 

year results for comparatives. 

Engagement in the arts is increasing (2014: 78%). Kiwis agree 

the arts have many benefits but there are still many ‘on the fence’. 

More thinking could be done on how to encourage those ‘on the 

fence’ to become more engaged. 

                                                        
1 Formerly the New Zealand General Social Survey 
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Indicators of progress 

4 Active participation in sports 

and recreation 

73% - adults 

95% - children 

Active New Zealand – The 

New Zealand Participation 

survey 2017 published by 

Sport New Zealand.  

This is a measure of weekly participation in sport and active 

recreation. Sport can be in an organised structure or informal. 

Recreation includes other activities such as dance or tramping. 

The 2017 survey uses a new methodology, and resets previous 

baselines. This is a wide ranging survey of sporting participation 

across different groups of people. 

5 Māori Participation in cultural activities 

70% - Māori adults that say it was at least somewhat 

important for them to be involved in Māori culture 

54% - Māori adults that think of their ancestral marae as 

their tūrangawaeae (place of belonging) 

62% - Māori adults that have been to the ancestral 

marae 

34% - Māori adults that have been to the ancestral 

marae in the last 12 months  

Te Kupenga survey of Māori wellbeing published by 

Statistics New Zealand.  

This survey is infrequent and was last 

performed in 2013. We expect 

updated results to be available in 

2019. 

This collected information on a wide 

range of topics to give an overall 

picture of the social, cultural and 

economic well-being of Māori in New 

Zealand. 

6 Proportion of Maori able to converse in te reo Maori 

55% - Māori adults that have some ability to speak te 

reo Maori  

21% - Māori adults that can hold a conversation in te 

reo Māori 

11% - Māori adults that can speak te reo Māori well or 

very well 

The Census, published by Statistics New Zealand. 

These results are based on the 

2013 census. The next census will 

be available in 2019. 

7 Positive global perceptions of New Zealand 

14th strongest perceived image 

Anholt-GfK Nation Brands Index 

Perceptions of New Zealand 

overseas are assessment by a survey 

of public opinion around the world on 

"the power and quality of each 

country's ‘brand image’. 

This result is an improvement from 

15th in 2014. 
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Priority 2: Supporting Māori cultural aspirations 

Iwi are a key partner for the Ministry reflected in the Treaty of Waitangi. Māori culture, with its 

importance and uniqueness to New Zealand, is a crucial part of the work we do at the Ministry.  

Te Arataki, the Ministry’s iwi/Māori engagement strategy was refreshed in late 2017. Work began on 

socialising the strategy at an all staff hui held in May 2018 on Pipitea Marae. 

This Ministry strategy has three focus areas  

• Mātou (building our internal Māori capability)  

• Rātou/Koutou (working in collaboration to support iwi/Māori priorities/aspirations)  

• Tātou (creating opportunities for all New Zealanders to connect with Māori culture).  

Our progress towards the refreshed focus areas of Te Arataki is described below.  

Other significant activities that contributed to this priority in 2017/18 are: 

• Te Tai Treaty Settlement Stories Page 22 

• Protection of Taonga Tūturu Page 25 

• Guiding the care and preservation of taonga and heritage Page 17 

Te Arataki activities undertaken during 2017/18 included: 

Mātou Te Haerenga – all staff, one-day marae based workshop to build Māori 

knowledge and capability across Manatū Taonga. We developed mihi for 

Ministers to support the work of our Ministerial team 

This was accompanied by regular support such as fortnightly waiata practice, 

Group reo and tikanga sessions (both tailored and general), Group reo and 

tikanga sessions (both tailored and general) and a facilitated Treaty of Waitangi 

workshop. 

Rātou/Koutou Resetting the Ministry’s Ngā Kaihautū forum – to focus on collaborative projects 

(eg Te Matatini Festival, Maihi Karauna).  The forum brings together Kaihautū, 

Senior Advisors accountable for Māori outcomes across the cultural sector as 

well as: 

• Te Puni Kōkiri and some of its funded agencies 

• The Department of Internal Affairs, its and its funded agency Alexander 

Turnbull Library.  

• The Ministry of Business Innovation and Employment.  

Developed the Te Ara Taonga framework, common agreements and billingual 

web pages 

Started work with the Te Arataki Wānanga (key external group with expertise in 

governance and the arts, culture and heritage sector) on the implementation of 

Te Arataki. 

Tātou Supported the work with iwi/Māori to progress the Te Taiwhakaea treaty 

settlement stories. 

The following Manatū Taonga-led events incorporated significant elements of 
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Māori culture: 

• ANZAC Day at Pukeahu National War Memorial Park in Wellington 

• Waitangi Day events around New Zealand (through the Commemorating 

Waitangi Day Fund administered by Manatū Taonga) 

Supported key Ministerial activities in the commemorations programme (working 

with waka groups and local iwi and Māori communities at landing sites for Tuia 

– Encounters 250) and the development of a museum commemorating the Māori 

Battalion at the Waitangi Treaty Grounds (with the Waitangi National Trust and 

the Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment). 

Maihi Karauna 

The Ministry has been involved in the development of the draft Crown Māori Language Strategy 

(Maihi Karauna) at a number of levels: The Senior Officials Governance Group, Te Papa Kōrero 

(CE’s group) and Te Rūnanga Reo (Ministers group).  

Maihi Karauna outlines what the Crown will do to support a strong, healthy, thriving Māori language 

in New Zealand. 

The Ministry is a co-convenor of one of the Maihi Karauna’s priority areas – Aotearoatanga (national 

identity) with the Maihi Karauna actions reflected in the Te Arataki Strategy. The Pou Ārahi team will 

lead the implementation on behalf of the Ministry. 

 

Indicators of progress 

The Ministry has previously sought to indicate its progress through reporting the proportion of iwi with 

whom the Ministry has an ‘active’ relationship, number of publicly funded cultural agencies with co-

designed iwi initiatives and the te reo capability programmes in publicly funded cultural agencies. 

The refresh of Te Arataki, and the development of the Maihi Karauna, has led to a corresponding 

change of focus and a review of whether the existing measures are fit-for purpose. For example: 

• Iwi drive whether they are currently wanting to work with the Ministry in an active relationship and 

we are often a lower priority for their time and resources than education, social issues, health or 

land ownership. 

• Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori (the Māori Language Commission) is now driving the development 

of Language Action Plans across Government. 

 

Priority 3: Front-footing transformative technology 

New Zealand creative practitioners and organisations have mastered skills and capabilities to front-

foot technological innovation. There is greater scope to select and manage production, distribution 

and access. New Zealand is recognised as a leader in enabling ease of access to, and re-use of, 

creative content.  

Audiences and customers expect increasingly diverse content, both in subject and format, with more 

demand for high quality multi-media material. 
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The Ministry contributes to this priority through its policy work and more directly with the digital 

publishing of New Zealand’s stories. We lead and contribute to major multi-agency history and 

reference projects (ranging from Te Ara encyclopaedia of NZ, NZ History online and resources to 

support major commemorations). 

In 2017 the Ministry’s digital strategy was refreshed. This sets out the principles, guidance and 

policies that underpin and shape how the Ministry uses digital technology to engage with New 

Zealanders. 

Other initiatives include: 

• Strengthening public media Page 16 

• Te Tai Treaty Settlement Stories Page 22 

 

Indicators of progress 

1 Choices available to 

consumers in provision of 

cultural content: 

The Ministry has previously reported on this indicator by noting 

the related work programme. For future reporting, improved 

indicators of access to and usage of cultural content are being 

developed. 

We note that technology is being used by the cultural sector to 

reach more New Zealanders, such as the launch of the safe and 

New Zealand-centric HEIHEI children’s on-demand streaming 

service delivered by New Zealand on Air in May 2018. 

2 Hours of broadcast New 

Zealand screen content 

This measure only captures broadcast (not on-demand) content 

and has been discontinued. 

New Zealand on Air have a revised suite of indicators for the 

audience of its funded content. These will be detailed in the New 

Zealand on Air annual report. 

 

Priority 4: Improving cultural asset sustainability 

There is greater clarity on the most valuable cultural assets and priorities for investing in cultural 

infrastructure (tangible and intangible) over time within available resources. Sustainability is the 

ability to ensure that cultural assets can be enhanced or maintained for the benefit of future 

generations. In the cultural sector sustainability involves: 

• preserving cultural assets, including protecting assets against natural disasters such as 

earthquakes 

• strengthening cultural agencies’ financial wellbeing and resilience to shocks.  

The Ministry primarily contributes to this through its policy advice and monitoring of funded agencies, 

management of grant schemes, and the maintenance of portfolio of national monuments, historic 

graves and war graves. 
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Key initiatives in 2017/18 included: 

• Enhancing protection for heritage buildings Page 16 

• Management of grants to improve cultural asset sustainability – 

Heritage EQUIP and the Regional Culture and Heritage Fund. 

Page 23 

• Strengthening public media Page 16 

• Guiding the care and preservation of taonga and heritage  Page 17 

 

Indicators of progress 

1 Progress on establishing 

national historic landmarks 

Following the successful pilot in Northland, Otago was the first 

region to the added to the Landmarks Whenua Tohunga 

programme in 2018. 

From March 2018, management of the Landmarks programme 

was transferred to Heritage New Zealand.  

2 Proportion of sector funding 

obtained from public sector 

82% - Arts 

55% - Heritage 

94% - Media 

97% - Sports 

These results are obtained from the annual reports of the entities 

partially funded by the Ministry, in the arts, heritage, media and 

sport sub-sectors 

These results are consistent with previous years, reflecting the 

difficulties in increasing private income sources. 

3 Equity of New Zealand’s 

largest cultural institutions 

The total equity of the entities funded through this vote is 

$1.589,billion. Equity is defined as total assets less total liabilities. 

This result is taken from 2017 annual reports as the 2018 reports 

are not yet available. 

This is an increase over the prior year of over $100 million, and 

represents increases in the value of assets held at major 

institutions. 

4 Household expenditure (real) 

on cultural products and 

services 

$118.80 (2016) 

Statistics New Zealand – 

Household Economic Survey.  

This is a measure of weekly expenditure on cultural activities, 

which is a high-level indicator of both participation and 

sustainability of the cultural sector. Spending on cultural activities 

includes recreational and sporting activities. 

The 2016 survey was an increase on the previous 2013 results of 

$107.20. 

5 Arts and Recreation net births 

60 (2017) 

Statistics New Zealand – 

Business Demography 

Statistics. 

This measures changes in the number of enterprises in the arts 

and recreation services’ category monitored by Statistics New 

Zealand. 

The result of 60 net births continues a trend of expansion (2016: 

117 and 2015: 186) 
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Priority 5: Measuring and maximising public value 

Decision-making and choices in resourcing cultural infrastructure and cultural activity are better 

informed by data, evidence and understanding of the public value of culture. 

In 2017/18 the Ministry’s efforts were focussed on updating its cultural value framework and 

contributing to the wider Living Standards and wellbeing frameworks being developed by central 

agencies.  

For more information see: 

• Describing and measuring the value of culture Page 15 

• Supporting the growth of the sector Page 16 

 

Indicators of progress 

1 Use of evidence about public 

value in decisions about 

funded cultural investments 

The Ministry has previously reported on this indicator by noting 

the related work programme. For future reporting, improved 

indicators of cultural value and its use in decision-making are 

being developed. 

Work during 2017/18 is described on page 15. 

2 Public subsidy per unit of 

consumption 

Cultural consumption data is not yet available and we expect this 

measure to be discontinued. 
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Performance information for appropriations 
Kaupapa Korero mo nga Taonga tuku iho 
 

Vote Arts, Culture and Heritage 
Policy Advice, Monitoring of Funded Agencies and Ministerial Servicing 

The overarching purpose of this multi-category appropriation is to provide policy advice and other 

support to Ministers in discharging their policy decision-making and other portfolio responsibilities. 

Scope of individual categories 

Policy advice 

The provision of advice to support decision-making by Ministers on government policy matters 

relating to arts, culture, heritage and broadcasting. 

Monitoring of funded agencies 

Monitoring the Crown’s interests in sector agencies. 

Ministerial servicing 

Providing negotiated services to the Ministers for Arts, Culture and Heritage and the Minister of 

Broadcasting, Communications and Digital Media. 

Policy advice and funded agency monitoring to support the Government’s interventions in 
the cultural sector 

In 2017/18 we provided briefings to our incoming Ministers following the 2017 general election. We 
worked closely with our Ministers to establish priorities in order to refresh the work programme and 
we now have a substantial new policy programme underway across all our Ministers’ portfolios.   

Describing and measuring the value of culture 

In 2017/18 we also made a concerted effort, working with our funded sector agencies, to better 
understand and communicate the value the cultural sector produces for New Zealanders.  

This work culminated in us developing a value framework to describe and measure the value of 
culture from an economic perspective. We have commissioned an international expert to prepare 
guidance notes on how to use the framework, in consultation with New Zealand agencies. These 
guidance notes will be completed in 2018/19.  

We also worked closely with the Treasury and Statistics New Zealand to develop thinking on culture’s 
contribution to Treasury’s Living Standards Framework, and New Zealanders’ wellbeing generally.  
We will see the results in two initiatives in 2018/19, a public discussion paper on culture and the 
Living Standards Framework, and a set of cultural indicators in Indicators Aotearoa New Zealand, 
Statistic New Zealand’s comprehensive suite of wellbeing measures. 

During the year we began research into the cultural sector agencies’ reach into New Zealand 
communities, focussing on Māori, Pacific, youth, the regions, and deprived and disadvantaged 
communities. In 2018/19 we will develop this research further, and explore how to enhance the 
cultural sector’s reach and impact where required. 
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Throughout the year we took an active part in the work of the Australian Meeting of Cultural Ministers 
(MCM), strengthening trans-Tasman ties between government agencies with responsibilities for 
cultural policy.  We presented papers to the MCM’s officials working group on the Ministry’s value of 
culture framework, and on culture and New Zealand’s proposed wellbeing framework.  We also re-
engaged with the Australian Cultural Statistics Working Group (after a period of absence from this 
forum), strengthening opportunities to work together on data and measurement projects of mutual 
interest.   

Supporting the growth of the sector and access by New Zealanders to cultural experiences 

We have initiated work, jointly with the Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment, on a 
strategy to grow the cultural and economic impact of the screen sector.  We are scoping a work 
programme to improve the sustainability of careers in the cultural sector, and we are looking at the 
role of Government in supporting contemporary popular New Zealand music. We have begun 
examining how Government could better support creative spaces, which are places where people 
can participate in artistic activities in ways that support self-expression and self-development. We 
are also examining options for increase captioning and audio description, following the Government 
response to the 2016/17 select committee inquiry on this matter. In partnership with other agencies, 
we continue to administer the Cultural Diplomacy International Programme, which boosts New 
Zealand’s economic, trade, tourism, diplomatic and cultural interests in key overseas regions.  We 
have recently reviewed and realigned this programme according to strategic priorities. 

Enhancing protection of heritage buildings 

In 2017/18 we began a policy assessment of New Zealand’s system for protecting heritage buildings 
to make sure it is fit for purpose. We want to ensure that our system for protecting heritage buildings 
is accessible, easy to use, and provides meaningful protection. We will assess the policies and 
processes that Heritage New Zealand, councils and government departments apply for protecting 
heritage buildings to ensure they are collaborating to deliver positive heritage outcomes. We also 
need to ensure that building owners have access to support and advice on how they can best 
maintain and protect their buildings.   

We have launched a consultation process gaining insights from councils, iwi organisations, 
professional heritage organisations and industry bodies, academics, heritage owners and 
community advocacy groups. Targeted stakeholder engagement and workshops have been 
completed in all major centres. Interest was very high. There are strong views on what improvements 
could be made to the New Zealand built heritage protection system. 

The findings of our consultation, alongside a data collection programme, will be provided to the 
Minister for Arts, Culture and Heritage in a report setting out options for strengthening the system for 
protecting heritage buildings. 

Strengthening public media 

We supported the Public Media Ministerial Advisory Group to deliver advice to the Minister of 
Broadcasting, Communications and Digital Media on the allocation of Budget 2018 funding, and the 
establishment of a Media Commission.  We are now thinking ahead to how the overall public media 
system can be strengthened to better support our national identity and an informed democracy.  We 
have also progressed work on the regulation of media content, thinking in particular about how online 
content delivered by the likes of Netflix and Lightbox should be treated within the regulatory 
framework.  And we have initiated work to assess whether New Zealand should adopt Digital Audio 
Broadcasting (DAB) as an alternative to AM and FM radio broadcast.  
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Guiding the care and preservation of taonga and heritage  

We partnered with cultural sector agencies with a key role in the care, protection and preservation 
of physical taonga and heritage. These agencies are: 

• Department of Internal Affairs Te Tari Taiwhenua; National Library/Archives New Zealand  

• The Museum of New Zealand Te Papa Tongarewa 

• Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga  

• Ngā Taonga Sound & Vision  

Together we developed Te Ara Taonga: a framework to guide the agencies working with iwi in Treaty 
settlement negotiations – and also post-settlement iwi – on tiaki taonga (the care, protection, and 
preservation of taonga and heritage). A common agreement, involving most agencies, further 
supports the tiaki taonga approach as it allows for greater collaboration across cultural sector 
agencies to meet iwi objectives. Te Ara Taonga webpages (accessible through the Ministry’s website 
https://mch.govt.nz/te-ara-taonga) were created as an online source for iwi seeking information 
across all Te Ara Taonga agencies that support tiaki taonga. 

We are working in partnership with the Waitangi National Trust and the Ministry of Business, 
Innovation and Employment on the development of a museum commemorating the Māori Battalion 
at the Waitangi Treaty Grounds.   

We have been working closely with Te Puni Kōkiri, Te Taura Whiri and other agencies on the 
development of the Maihi Karauna - the Government’s new Māori Language Strategy to revitalise te 
reo Māori, one of the official languages of New Zealand. 

The National Archival and Library Institutions (NALI) Ministerial Group is established and has met 
several times to consider how we might strengthen the contribution that national libraries and 
archives can make to New Zealand’s culture and democracy.  Stakeholder engagement for the NALI 
Ministerial Group is completed with over 150 submissions received.  

We are undertaking a research project on the contribution of cultural life and heritage to New 
Zealand’s resilience to natural disasters. This stewardship project, due to Ministers in 2018/19, looks 
at natural hazards and their impact on cultural life and heritage, and spans the cultural sector, 
including sport and recreation, arts, media and heritage. 

Supporting and monitoring funded entities  

Through our work we support Ministers to oversee the funded entities in the sector. The funded 
entities have a key role in delivering on Ministerial expectations, including promoting the diversity of 
New Zealand in the cultural sector and being good guardians for the cultural heritage of New 
Zealand.  We support Ministers by: 

• giving advice on Board appointments to ensure appropriate governance arrangements are 
in place to support on-going delivery 

• ensuring that performance targets for the funded entities reflect Ministers’ expectations 

• reviewing performance of the funded entities against the goals contained in entity Statements 
of Performance Expectations and Statements of Intent. 

We advised and assisted Crown-funded agencies (Crown Entities and Non-Government 
Organisations) for the Arts, Culture and Heritage, and Broadcasting, Communications and Digital 
Media portfolios, and improved assessment of, and provided advice on their performance.  This 

https://mch.govt.nz/te-ara-taonga
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included providing advice and support for board appointments to Arts Council of New Zealand Toi 
Aotearoa, Museum of New Zealand Te Papa Tongarewa, New Zealand Symphony Orchestra, 
Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga and its Māori Heritage Council, New Zealand Film 
Commission, Tuia, the Tūpuna Maunga o Tāmaki Makaurau Authority, the Screen Advisory Board, 
NZ On Air, the Broadcasting Standards Authority, and the National Pacific Radio Trust. 

Supporting Ministers 

We continue to support our Ministers by providing speeches and Ministerial responses which enable 
them to deliver messages, share stories, and connect with New Zealanders.  We also support 
Ministers to ensure that they are supported for arts, culture and heritage issues for core government 
processes. 

Access to information through the Official Information Act 

The Ministry is committed to openness and transparency, and the availability of information, in 
accordance with the Official Information Act. In early 2018 the Office of the Ombudsman undertook 
a review into the Ministry’s Official Information Act compliance and practice. The Chief Ombudsman 
did not identify any conduct by the Ministry that was unreasonable or contrary to law and did not 
make any formal recommendations.  However, he did identify some areas of improvement for the 
Ministry, and outlined these in a series of recommendations. The Ministry has a forward plan to 
implement these recommendations, and some of the improvements are already underway. 

How well we delivered it 

This section provides an assessment of our delivery against the performance measures set out in 

the Information Supporting the Estimates for 2017/18. 

Policy Advice, Monitoring of Funded Agencies and Ministerial Services 

Performance measures 
Actual 

performance 
2017   

Budget 
standard      

2018     

Actual 
performance 

2018  

Ministerial satisfaction with the quality and 
timeliness of policy advice, monitoring of 
funded agencies and ministerial services 

80% 80% 

All Ministers 
were satisfied, 
average rating 

8 out of 10 

Policy advice 

Performance measures 
Actual 

performance 
2017   

Budget 
standard      

2018     

Actual 
performance 

2018  

Ministerial satisfaction with the timeliness of 
advice for policy briefings, advice and reports  

New measure 80% 

All Ministers 
were satisfied, 
average rating 

8.4 out of 10 

Ministerial satisfaction with the quality of 
advice for policy briefings, advice and reports 
 

New measure 80% 

All Ministers 
were satisfied, 
average rating 

8.1 out of 10 
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Performance measures 
Actual 

performance 
2017   

Budget 
standard      

2018     

Actual 
performance 

2018  

The average quality of written policy papers 
to the Ministers, as assessed annually by an 
expert panel   

72% 75% 72% 

Cost per output hour $114 $100 $150  

 

Ministerial satisfaction measures 

Our four ministers provided feedback on the our performance using a scale between 1 and 10; where 

1 shows the Ministry fell well short of expectations and 10 shows the Ministry far exceeded 

expectations. Responses 6 or above were assessed as “satisfied”.  

The quality of written policy papers to Ministers 

We use a panel of three principal advisors from the Ministry and one external advisor to review the 

quality of a sample of policy papers.  

The result of 7.2 out of 10 represents means our advice is of a suitable quality to send to Ministers 

as assessed under this framework. 

Cost per output hour 

We have restated last year’s number from $97/per hour to $114/per hour. This is to allow for 
comparability following a change in the calculation method for 2018.  
 
Costs have increased between 2017 and 2018 due to the additional senior resources used to 
progress the Government’s new policy programme, particularly our work on public media and 
broadcasting.  
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Monitoring of funded agencies 

Performance measures 
Actual 

performance 
2017   

Budget 
standard      

2018     

Actual 
performance 

2018  

Ministerial satisfaction with the timeliness of 
advice for agency related briefings, advice 
and reports  

New measure 80% 

All Ministers 
were satisfied, 
average rating 

of 8 out of 10 

Ministerial satisfaction with the quality of 
advice for agency related briefings, advice 
and reports 
 

New measure 80% 

 
All Ministers 

were satisfied, 
average rating 
of 7.9 out of 10 

Ministerial satisfaction with the quality of 
advice of board appointments to Crown-
connected boards 

New measure 80% 

 
All Ministers 

were satisfied, 
average rating 
of 7.9 out of 10 

The average quality of new board member 
governance workshops, as assessed by 
survey of attendees 

90% 90% 92% 

 

Ministerial satisfaction measures 

Our four ministers provided feedback on the our performance using a scale between 1 and 10; where 

1 shows the Ministry fell well short of expectations and 10 shows the Ministry far exceeded 

expectations. Responses 6 or above were assessed as “satisfied”.  
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Ministerial servicing 

Performance measures 
Actual 

performance 
2017   

Budget 
standard      

2018     

Actual 
performance 

2018  

% of Parliamentary questions responded to 
within agreed timeframes. 

New measure 100% 100% 

Ministerial satisfaction with the quality of 
Parliamentary question responses 

New measure 90% 

All Ministers 
were satisfied, 
average rating 
of 7.9 out of 10 

% of speeches and draft replies to ministerial 
correspondence provided within agreed 
timeframes 

New measure 95% 60% 

Ministerial satisfaction with the quality of 
speeches and draft replies to ministerial 
correspondence 

New measure 90% 

All Ministers 
were satisfied, 
average rating 
of 7.9 out of 10 

% of Ministerial and Ministry OIA responses 
responded to within legislative timeframes 

New measure 100% 97% 

Ministerial satisfaction with the quality and 
robustness of Ministerial OIA responses 

New measure 90% 

All Ministers 
were satisfied, 
average rating 
of 7.9 out of 10 

 

Ministerial servicing  

The percentage of ministerial responses completed on time is lower than the standard required for 

the financial year – this was due to resource constraints from quarter three, following the 

election.  Work has been undertaken to address the backlog of ministerial correspondence from that 

period. It is expected that standards will be met for the 2018/19 financial year. 
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Vote Arts, Culture and Heritage 
Heritage Services 

 

Scope 

Management of new memorial projects, national monuments, war and historic graves; promotion of 

cultural events; administration of legislation and grants; and research, writing and publication of New 

Zealand history and reference works including the on-line Encyclopedia of New Zealand. 

The work funded through this appropriation included projects of considerable significance to the 
nation’s identity, and to New Zealanders’ understanding of our history. 

Management of the Pukeahu National War Memorial Park 

The importance of the National War Memorial and Pukeahu National War Memorial Park was further 
underlined with the completion of the refurbishment of the Carillon, a key stage of the multi-year, multi-
million dollar restoration and earthquake strengthening of the National War Memorial. Three more 
memorials (those marking our relationships with Britain, Belgium and France) were completed during 
the year, and a series of moving commemorative events were held at Pukeahu. 

Research and Publishing (including support for commemorations) 

The Ministry produces authoritative accessible resources for New Zealanders and international 
audiences, including educational resources for teachers and students, to meet demonstrated demand 
for information about New Zealand, nationhood and identity.  

In 2017/18 we prepared engaging online content (‘Women, the Vote and Activism’) in support of 
Suffrage 125, the 125th anniversary of the women’s suffrage which will be marked in September 2018.   

Te Tai Treaty Settlement Stories 

Another research and publishing focus was the Te Tai Treaty Settlement Stories project, which has 
progressed to the point that the first iwi audio-visual resources, focusing on the Ngāti Awa settlement 
story, will be able to be launched in the latter part of 2018.  In the meantime, further interviews with 
those involved in iwi settlements took place in 2017/18, including a joint interview with Sir Tipene 
O’Regan and Sir Douglas Kidd focussed on the fisheries settlement, which eventuated in part from 
discussions with Ngai Tahu. 

Administering Legislation 

Over the 2017/18 year we processed 124 applications and enquiries for the export of protected objects 
from New Zealand under the Protected Objects Act 1975.  This included temporary export permissions 
to support the international touring exhibitions ‘Whales Tohora' by Te Papa and the Gottfried Lindauer 
‘New Zealand: The Maori Portraits' exhibition from Auckland Art Gallery,  as well as to facilitate many 
international loans of natural science specimens for research and scientific study.  

We also considered 87 applications and enquiries under the Flags, Emblems and Names Protection 
Act 1981 on the use of New Zealand’s sovereign symbols of nationhood. 
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Management of Grant Schemes 

Since 2016 three rounds of the Regional Culture and Heritage Fund have been held, resulting in 13 
grant decisions across the 12 regions totalling $24.333 million.  We have continued to support and 
monitor these projects as they progress to completion.  The most recently completed project was the 
Nelson Centre of Musical Arts, in June 2018.  We are working closely with MBIE’s Provincial 
Development Unit to ensure that the Regional Culture and Heritage Fund is operated in a 
complementary manner to the government’s new Provincial Growth Fund.  The recently announced 
Hundertwasser Arts Centre decision is a good example of collaboration between the Ministries to 
ensure that opportunities are maximised (and bureaucracy reduced). 

We awarded 14 Heritage EQUIP seismic upgrade grants this year worth $2.02 million, taking grants 
awarded to over $4 million since the fund opened in late 2016. We also delivered the 
heritageequip.govt.nz information platform in September 2017 and have seen a steady flow of visitors 
seeking guidance on how buildings can be earthquake strengthened. 

Notable among the completed projects we have contributed to this year are: 

• a popular Nelson café that took the opportunity to upgrade during the quieter winter trading 
period 

• a beautifully renovated apartment in Whanganui’s Victoria Avenue with two new shops below 

• an iconic Napier building that now houses a brewery and urban winery. 

Te Awahou Nieuwe Stroom 
 
Nearly $1.03 million was granted towards Te Awahou Nieuwe Stroom’s project which converted a 
former retail warehouse into a multi-purpose facility displaying Foxton’s unique cultural heritage; 
alongside other visitor, library, and community services.  The project had an end cost of $8.6 
million.   
 
Government contributed to its whare taonga and exhibition spaces for housing professionally-
designed exhibitions of taonga entrusted to the facility by its communities. 
 
Te Awahou Nieuwe Stroom means ‘The New Stream’ in both Māori and Dutch languages.  This 
name is very fitting as this project is an innovative partnership between the local Council, and two 
trusts representing the interests of local iwi Māori and the national Dutch community. 
 
Since its opening in late 2017, both the facility and this partnership model have been recognised 
nationally and internationally; earning prestigious awards which celebrate excellence in public 
architecture, museums projects, and best practice in project collaboration. 
 

 
 

Interior images taken on Te Awahou Nieuwe Stroom’s opening day. 
Images: Courtesy, Luke Stenner, MCH 
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For the coming year a focus is on encouraging applications from smaller centres where 
upgrade viability is particularly challenging. 

National Memorials and Graves 

We provided advice on national memorials to disasters, following which the government announced 
plans to mark the 40th anniversary of the Erebus accident with the creation of a National Erebus 
Memorial.  This has become a key focus for us; and it is planned that the Memorial will be completed 
in the first half of 2020. 

National Commemorations Programme 

Other commemorative events and memorials were the subject of important preparatory work.  In 
2017/18 we delivered to Ministers the concept of a reframed commemoration to mark the first on-land 
encounters between Māori and Pakeha in October 1769.  Initially conceived as focussing primarily on 
Cook and the Endeavour, Tuia – Encounters 250 will now take a much broader and more inclusive 
approach, with an emphasis on multiple voyaging traditions.   

  

Nelson Centre of Performing Arts 
 

The Nelson Centre of Performing Arts received $1.5 million towards its seismic-strengthening and 
redevelopment of this 1901 auditorium which has acoustics that are highly valued by performers 
and audiences alike.  The project had an end cost of $9.6 million. 
 
Government’s grant enabled the auditorium to reopen as a state-of-the-art performing arts venue 
to host local, national and international performing artists.   
 
The Trust also ensured that previously removed heritage features were reinstated on this 
Category I heritage building rescuing a local landmark so it can continue to be feature in the 
cultural fabric of the Nelson region. 
 

 
 

Interior and exterior images of the Nelson Centre of Performing Arts 
Images: Courtesy, Oliver Weber Photography 
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How well we delivered it 

This section provides an assessment of our delivery against the performance measures set out in the 

Information Supporting the Estimates for 2017/18. 

 

Administration of legislation to protect New Zealand and taonga Māori and cultural heritage 

Performance measures 
Actual 

performance 
2017   

Budget 
standard      

2018     

Actual 
performance 

2018  

Export enquiries and applications under the 
Protected Objects Act are processed within 
three months of receipt by the Ministry 

97%  100% 98% 

Taonga tūturu cases where no claims for 
ownership are submitted have long-term 
custody arrangements approved by the Chief 
Executive of the Ministry within six months of 
public notification 

100%  100% 100% 

Applications in relation to the Flags, Emblems 
and Names Protection Act 1981 submitted to 
the minister within three months of receipt 

50%  100% 56% 

Ministerial acceptance of advice in relation to 
the Flags, Emblems and Names Protection 
Act 1981 

100%  100% 100% 

    

Export enquiries and applications under the Protected Objects Act  

Two applications exceeded the timeframe of three months. One application required further advice 

from an expert examiner due to additional provenance on the object and the other application had a 

longer than expected assessment by the expert examiner due to existing workloads at their museum. 

Both applications were viewed as acceptable in order to receive specialist advice on the objects. 

Applications in relation to the Flags, Emblems and Names Protection Act 1981 

Over the year, four applications were submitted to the Minister more than 90 days after they had been 

received. The delays were due to the applications being received shortly prior to, or during, the period 

of transition to the new government and they were further delayed by the shutdown over Christmas. 
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Maintain war graves and access to memorials and other places of national significance 

Performance measures 
Actual 

performance 
2017   

Budget 
standard      

2018     

Actual 
performance 

2018  

Manage biennial programme of inspections 
and planned repairs for war graves and 
memorials included in the Ministry's portfolio 
within New Zealand  

98% Delivered 
against plan 

Delivered 
against plan 

Delivered 
against plan 

Improve interpretation at memorials in New 
Zealand and complete planned maintenance 
and site development at key offshore 
memorials  

Delivered 
against plan 

Delivered 
against plan 

Delivered 
against plan 

After visiting the National War Memorial, 
visitors report they have a better 
understanding of the history and impact of war 
on New Zealand and how it is commemorated 
 

Revised 
measure 

90% 72% 

After visiting the Pukeahu Education 
Programme, teachers report students have a 
better understanding or awareness of New 
Zealand’s history, heritage, nationhood or 
citizenship 

Revised 
measure 

90% 100% 

Taonga tūturu returned to Waimate North 
 

Earlier this year, the Ministry facilitated the return of 37 newly found taonga tūturu to Waimate 
North in Northland. The taonga were found on a farm in the area, and many received Ministry-
funded conservation treatment at The University of Auckland, due to their fragile condition.  
 
Three Ngāpuhi marae (Tauwhara Marae, Parawhenua Marae, and Rawhitiroa Marae) agreed that 
they should share ownership of the taonga. The Ministry facilitated return to the hapū of the three 
marae by seeking an order through the Māori Land Court, under the Protected Objects Act 1975.  
 
Many of the taonga are gardening implements, which speak to the long agricultural history of the 
Taimai plains and help to connect hapū with their whenua and tūpuna.  
 
The discovery provided an opportunity for the Ministry to work closely with marae representatives, 
local farmers, Auckland War Memorial Museum, and the University of Auckland. The taonga were 
welcomed on to Tauwhara Marae with a pōwhiri in April. 
 

 
 
Members of the three marae (Tauwhara, Parawhenua, and Rawhitiroa) discussing conservation and ongoing care 

of the taonga tūturu with conservator Dilys Johns. 
Images: Courtesy, Hinerangi Himiona and Luke Stenner 

 



 

Ministry for Culture and Heritage Annual Report 2017-18/ 27 
 

 

Increased levels of awareness of the historical context and enduring impact of war on New 

Zealand after visiting the National War Memorial 

We are continuing to work on ways to enhance visitor experiences and visitor understanding of 

commemoration and the place of ceremony when visiting the National War Memorial. 

 

 

Belgium memorial at Pukeahu National War Memorial Park. Photo credit: Mark Tantrum 

 

 

Promotion of cultural events and significant commemorations 

Performance measures 
Actual 

performance 
2017   

Budget 
standard      

2018     

Actual 
performance 

2018  

Ministerial satisfaction with the co-ordination 
of anniversaries and the commemorations 
programme  

Rated ‘Very 
good’ 

Rated ‘good’ or 
better 

Good 

Ministerial satisfaction with co-ordination of 
the WW100 programme 

Rated ‘Very 
good’ 

Rated ‘good’ or 
better 

Very Good 

Social media reach across WW100 
programme 

Average 
monthly reach 

of 248,672  

Average 
monthly reach 

of 200,000 
243,946 

 
Ministerial satisfaction 
 
Ministerial satisfaction is assessed on a 4 point scale between ‘Poor’ and ‘Very Good’. 

Information on and communication of New Zealand and Māori history, society and culture 
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Performance measures 
Actual 

performance 
2017   

Budget 
standard      

2018     

Actual 
performance 

2018  

Manage annual programme to collect, 
preserve, and provide information on New 
Zealand and Māori history, society and culture 

Delivered 
against plan 

Delivered 
against plan 

Not achieved 

Annual number of total visits to the Ministry’s 
websites  

10.3 million  11 million 10.7 million 

Annual number of page impressions for 
Ministry’s websites  

27.6 million  30 million 28.5 million 

Annual number of returning visitors to the 
Ministry’s websites 

3.6 million  3.75 million 3.9 million 

    
Manage annual programme to collect, preserve, and provide information on New Zealand and 
Māori history, society and culture 
 
Our plans to complete and publish Te Tai treaty settlement narratives for three iwi were delayed due 
to limited resources, the complexity of audio-visual content creation, and the need for detailed 
consultation with and sign-off from our iwi partners. The first of these will now be published in 
November 2018. 
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Vote Arts, Culture and Heritage 
Cultural Diplomacy International Programme 

Scope 

Management and delivery of an international cultural diplomacy programme through a series of 

projects and activities primarily focused on Asia and other regions where New Zealand is pursuing free 

trade agreements. 

Administering the Cultural International Development Programme 

Over 2017/18 we funded four successful overseas cultural diplomacy projects through the Cultural 

Diplomacy International Programme (CDIP):  

• The Māori Portraits: Gottfried Lindauer’s New Zealand, which Auckland Art Gallery toured to 

de Young Museum in San Francisco, which was named one of the “12 Must-See Fall Exhibits 

Around the World” by the Smithsonian;  

• Tuku Iho, exhibition and  performances of kapa haka and Māori arts in Washington DC and 

Los Angeles;  

• Performances by Rotorua Māori cultural group at the Boryeong Mud Festival in Korea; and  

• ‘Discover Aotearoa New Zealand’, a five-day showcase of New Zealand art, culture, education 

and food in Kuala Lumpar, Malaysia. 

How well we delivered it 

This section provides an assessment of our delivery against the performance measures set out in the 

Information Supporting the Estimates for 2017/18. 

Performance measures 
Actual 

performance 
2017   

Budget 
standard      

2018     

Actual 
performance 

2018  

Extent to which desired outcomes for projects 
completed in this period have been achieved 

73%  80% 100% 

Number of approved projects completed  2  3 4 

Ministerial satisfaction with the quality and 
timeliness of advice is consistently high 

70% 80% 80% 
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Vote Arts, Culture and Heritage   
First World War Centenary 

Scope 

Departmental Output Expenses 

Provision of activities relating to First World War centenary commemorations. 

National Commemorations Programme 

In 2017/18 we continued to host the successful WW100 programme, which included marking the 
centenary of the Battle of Passchendaele; the Monumental campaign with its focus on community 
memorials; and the Walking with an Anzac educational resource.   

This Walking with an Anzac resource, comprising ‘discovery boxes’ of First World War ephemera and 
digital supporting information, was launched by the Prime Minister at the Pukeahu Education Centre 
in February. At the beginning of the 2018 school year, 1000 discovery boxes were delivered to 1000 
classrooms.  Feedback to date for this programme suggests that it has been a considerable success 
with teachers and students alike. 

The Great War Exhibition at the Dominion Museum Building in Wellington is a key part of the 
Government’s First World War centenary Programme. The exhibition is run by the National Military 
Heritage Trust.  

More than 400,000 people have visited the exhibition since it opened in 2015. In April 2018, a new 
feature (The Trench Experience) opened. In this unique re-creation of Quinn’s Post at Gallipoli, visitors 
encounter the noise, the explosions, the stench, and the confined environment those men had to deal 
with during the ferocious struggle between opposing forces.  

The exhibition will close at 6pm on December 2, 2018. 

How well we delivered it 

This section provides an assessment of our delivery against the performance measures set out in the 

Information Supporting the Estimates for 2017/18. 

Performance measures 
Actual 

performance 
2017   

Budget 
standard      

2018     

Actual 
performance 

2018  

Visitor satisfaction with the Great War 
Exhibition 

Rated 'good' or 
better 

Rated 'good' or 
better 

Rated ‘good’ or 
better 

Visitors reporting increased levels of 
understanding and awareness of New 
Zealand's military history after visiting the 
Great War Exhibition 

98% 90% 97% 

Annual visits to the Great War Exhibition  81,466 125,000 80,032 

Annual visits to the Great War Exhibition 

The original estimate of 125,000 visits (published in the 2017/18 Estimates) was revised during the 

year to 85,000 to better reflect actual visitor numbers. 
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Vote Sport and Recreation 
Purchase Advice and Monitoring of Sport and Recreation Crown Entities 

Scope 

Provision of purchase advice and monitoring of Sport New Zealand and Drug Free Sport New Zealand, 

including advice in relation to appointments to boards. 

Policy advice and funded agency monitoring to support the Government’s interventions in 
the cultural sector 

We advised and assisted Crown-funded agencies (Crown Entities and Non-Government 

Organisations) for the Sport and Recreation portfolio, and improved assessment of, and provided 

advice on their performance.  This included advice and support for board appointments to Sport New 

Zealand, Drug Free Sport New Zealand, the Sports Tribunal of New Zealand, and the Eden Park Trust 

Board. 

How well we delivered it 

This section provides an assessment of our delivery against the performance measures set out in the 

Information Supporting the Estimates for 2017/18. 

Purchase advice and monitoring of sport and recreation Crown entities 

Performance measures 
Actual 

performance 
2017   

Budget 
standard      

2018     

Actual 
performance 

2018  

Briefing reports to be provided during the 
year  

45  20 26  

Ministerial satisfaction with the quality and 
timeliness of advice is consistently high 

80%  80% 

All ministers 
were satisfied, 
rating of 7 out 

of 10 

    

Ministerial satisfaction measures 

The Minister of Sport and Recreation provided feedback on the Ministry’s performance using a scale 

between 1 and 10; where 1 shows the Ministry fell well short of expectations and 10 shows the 

Ministry far exceeded expectations. Responses 6 or above were assessed as “satisfied”.  
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Effective and efficient delivery of our services 
Te whai hua me te tōtika o ā mātou ratonga 
 
 
This section reports on the management of organisational health and capability at the Ministry. 

Bringing common purpose, values and behaviours into everyday 
practice 

Over 2017/18 we completed the articulation of our values and behaviours which underpin our common 

purpose and simplified strategy (defined in 2017); this was a cross-ministry collaboration led by our 

wider leadership team and ‘culture carriers’ which culminated in a booklet which is now used as key 

collateral for how we talk about ourselves (especially during coaching conversations, recruitment and 

on-boarding).   

Findings from our July 2018 engagement survey show significant improvement in this area. When 

asked how strongly people agreed that Manatū Taonga as an organisation has a clear vision of where 

it is going and how it is going to get there, 73.2% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed, an increase 

of 20% from 2017. Similarly 67.6% agreed or strongly agreed that there is a sense of common purpose 

in this organisation up from 56.4% in 2017. The Ministry also had a significant increase in staff feeling 

a sense of belonging in the organisation, to 77.8%. These results demonstrate excellent progress in 

addressing recommendations on Purpose and Culture since the 2014 PIF and the follow-up review in 

2016. 

We are now on a longer, multi-year journey of ‘bringing our values to life’ embedding our purpose  
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values and behaviours into how we work and make decisions every day; we are also realigning 

systems, policies and processes to support the culture we are looking to reinforce.  

A workforce aligned with our culture and strategy 

Alignment through organisational reviews 

The Ministry completed organisational reviews of its Policy and Delivery groups in the 2017/18 year, 

within the constraints of existing baseline funding prior to the successful capability bid. There were no 

redundancies from these reviews.  

In the Delivery Group, the purpose of the review was to determine the optimum management structure 

for the group, so as to carry out the group’s responsibilities to best effect at a time of growth, focusing 

on effectiveness rather than on cost savings.  The new structure comprises a Memorials and Taonga 

Group and a Commemorations Group, alongside the existing Publishing Group and First World War 

Centenary Programme. 

In the Policy and Sector Performance Group, the purpose of the review was to determine the 

appropriate way of organising the management structure of the group, focusing on effectiveness rather 

than on cost savings.  The new structure comprises an Arts and Media Policy team (previously two 

separate teams), a Heritage Policy team, and a Sector Performance team.  Changes were also made 

in the working arrangements for agency monitoring and relationships with monitored agencies. 

Further alignment opportunities post a successful capability bid  

With an increase in baseline budget of around $5 million per annum from 1 July 2018, the Ministry has 

an opportunity to review its workforce requirements to support a step-change in the way we deliver our 

services. In this context, and in line with our strategic direction, we are considering the number and 

mix of staff, our culture, change and diversity requirements, and how we will grow (and share) our 

organisational capability. 

In particular the focus is to work with people across Manatū Taonga to articulate a ‘people and ahurea’ 

strategy which is aligned with the Ministry’s strategy and supports the development of our internal 

culture for current and new staff.  

People capability 

In 2017/18 we used outputs from talent analytics to align individual development needs with our 

overarching strategy. Through this analysis we prioritised budget toward supporting the culture work, 

developing a stronger cohort of leaders, building Māori cultural capability, and increasing our project 

management capability:  

● ‘Culture carriers’ and the wider leadership team were supported to build their capability to lead 

the culture work and hold conversations around culture, values and behaviours in alignment with 

our refreshed strategy.  

● In May 2018 all tier three people managers embarked on a 9 month Management in Action (MiA) 

programme. MiA is designed to give a thorough grounding in the skills and knowledge required 

to become a confident and effective people leader in the New Zealand public service. The 

programme comprises three modules and has been tailored to the strategy, values and 

behaviours of Manatū Taonga and building coaching capability throughout.  

● Approximately 25% of the overall learning and development budget for 2017/18 was set aside 

for initiatives to support Te Arataki, our strategy to support Iwi/Māori cultural aspirations. This 
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included Te Haerenga ki Pipitea a highly successful full day, all of Ministry opportunity to connect 

and build Māori cultural competence while reinforcing our strategy, values and behaviours, Tiriti 

o Waitangi workshops, ongoing waiata sessions and various classes in Te Reo Māori. This focus 

is beginning to show results, in the July 2018 engagement survey, 70.3% of employees agreed 

with the statement “This organisation encourages me to extend my knowledge and skills in te 

reo Māori, tikanga and the treaty of Waitangi”. 

● In 2017/18 focus was placed on building capability to support implementation of our new work 

programme governance approach. A project management course was also run in-house to build 

capability in the newly formed commemorations team as well as further support those who are 

leading large programmes of work / regularly using the work programme governance system 

and reporting.  

Diversity and Inclusion 

Our vision is to 'connect more people with New Zealand's culture’ proactively engaging with and 

including an increasingly diverse population is fundamental to how we achieve this. 

A diverse and inclusive workforce enables Manatu Taonga to better promote the diversity of 

Aotearoa in the cultural sector, so all New Zealanders can connect to and see themselves in it. 

Setting strong foundations for diversity and Inclusion  

Emphasis on diversity and inclusion has been woven throughout our strategy, values and behaviours. 

In 2017/18 we created a Diversity and Inclusion Agency Profile which is now being incorporated into 

our People and Ahurea Strategy. This provides the Ministry with an excellent foundation to support 

people to understand why diversity and inclusion matters. 

Gender pay gap  

Our overall gender pay gap (the difference between average pay for women and average pay for men) 

is 11.1%, having been as high as 20% three years ago and as low as 4.2% one year ago.  The figure 

of 11.1% is not a cause for concern, we understand the reasons for it and we are taking actions to 

reduce it.  Figures such as these can fluctuate significantly in smaller organisations such as ours, 

where individual employees (arrivals and departures) have a greater impact on the total.  Our figure 

compares to an overall Public Service gender pay gap of 12.2%.   

Our Gender Pay Gap Action Plan includes an analysis of the factors contributing to the gap and the 

actions we will undertake towards closing the gap.  We are making good progress towards the Public 

Service milestones, in particular: equal pay for men and women in the same roles, flexible work by 

default, removing bias in remuneration systems and human resource practices, and gender balance 

leadership. 

Women in the public sector 

We continue to progress well with diversity and inclusion of women within the Ministry. This is 

supported with the continued positive results around flexible working from our engagement survey, 

and the make-up of our leadership teams (our Ministry Leadership Team is currently 80% female and 

20% Māori, and of our Tier Three cohort 50% are female).  

Ethnic Diversity & Inclusion 

Ethnic diversity initiatives to date have largely focused on Māori.  2017/18 saw the proportion of Ministry 

staff who are Māori at 12%, which is not far below the Public Service figure of 16% and the NZ 

population figure of 15%*. We have more to do in improving our proportions of Pacific and Asian staff, 

which are currently 1% Pacific (compared with 9.2% Public Service and 7.4%* NZ population) and 5% 
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Asian (compared with 10.1% Public Service and 11.8%* NZ population); Ethnic diversity is being 

considered as part of the increase in staff numbers following the recent successful Capability Bid, to 

help improve these figures further. 

Flexible working  

Working flexibly is widely recognised as a key enabler for building diverse and inclusive teams and 

supporting the attraction and retention of a wider pool of talent. The Gender Pay Gap Action Plan for 

the Public Service milestone is that by 2020 all agencies will be flexible working by default.  

From our 2017 and 2018 engagement surveys and culture conversations we know working flexibly is 

a strength of the Ministry and is highly valued by our people, it’s ‘how we do things around here’. In 

2017/18 we spent time promoting and sharing stories of how people make flexible working work for 

them including how our leadership team role model from the top.  

Qualitative and quantitate results from the July 2018 engagement survey are provided below:  

Associated metrics:  

• I have the freedom and flexibility I need to do my job effectively 91% 

• This organisation cares about the well-being of its people 84.1 :% 

 
Sample comments: 

“People - MCH staff work well together and generally go the extra mile to help out colleagues 

when they need it. Everyone is understanding of commitments outside of work which makes 

flexible working hours possible.” 

“Genuine commitment to flexible working and valuing people based on performance rather 

than hours spent in the office.” 

“Personally I am at a stage where being able to work flexibly is important to me and this 

organisation seems positive towards helping me achieve this.” 

Improving associated data and measurement: 

There is a sector-wide commitment to improve the collection and measurement of data in relation to 

diversity and inclusion (e.g. the Gender Pay Gap, ethnicity, disability). Manatū Taonga is strong on 

collecting data on gender and diversity and has moved to ensure our measures are in line with SSC 

and Stats NZ expectations. Collection of disability data is a focus for 2018/19. 
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Equal Employment Opportunities 
 

We operate personnel policies that comply with the principle of being a good employer.  Our equal 

employment opportunities programme is incorporated within other plans and strategies, such as our 

workforce strategy, rather than as a stand-alone programme.  Priority areas include closing our gender 

pay gap, improving our ethnic diversity, and identifying and eliminating any aspects of our policies and 

procedures that contribute to inequality of employment. 

  
Capability and engagement measures 

The following measures were used to monitor trends in the Ministry’s organisational capability and 

health: 

What we want to do Indicator Performance 

Sustain high levels of 
engagement for a 
responsive, productive 
and focussed 
workforce 

Employee engagement is 
at best practice levels 
based on engagement 
survey results (IBM) – 
ratio of at least 30% 
engaged to 10% 
disengaged 

2015: 21% engaged to 16% disengaged 

2016: 27% engaged to  8% disengaged 

2017: 21.9% engaged to 12.5% disengaged 

2018: 35.4% engaged to 10.6% disengaged 

At least 90% of new 
permanent staff still in the 
same role after 12 months 

2015: 78% 

2016: 100% 

2017: 94% 

2018: 93% 

Average length of service 
for permanent staff is 
within a range of 4-6 
years 

2015: 7.0 years 

2016: 6.0 years 

2017: 7.9 years 

2018: 6.3 years 

 Unplanned staff turnover is 
within a range of 10-15%* 
 

2015: 24.1% 

2016: 17.6% 

2017: 26.1% 

2018: 14.4% 

 *Unplanned turnover includes only open term (permanent) staff, and excludes cessations due to end of 
fixed term.  Figures such as these can fluctuate significantly in smaller organisations such as ours, where 
individual departures have a greater impact on the total.  Our turnover of 14.4% for 2017/18 is 
significantly lower than the previous year, is more in line with our longer-term average, and is close to 
the 2017/18 Public Service figure of 12.1%. 
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  APPROPRIATION STATEMENTS 
 
The following statements report information about the expenses and capital expenditure incurred 
against each appropriation administered by the Ministry for the year ended 30 June 2018.  They are 
prepared on a GST exclusive basis. 
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Statement of budgeted and actual expenses and 
capital expenditure incurred against appropriations  
for the year ended 30 June 2018 

  

Actual 
expenditure 

2017 
Appropriation 

voted* 

Actual 
expenditure 

2018 

Location of 
end-of-year 

performance 
information** $000 $000 $000 

Vote Arts, Culture and Heritage         

Appropriations for output expenses       

Heritage services 8,349 12,382 9,513 1 

Policy advice, monitoring of funded 
agencies and ministerial services 
MCOA** 

6,262 7,358 6,939 1 

          

- Ministerial servicing 884 958 899   

- Monitoring of funded agencies 2,021 2,190 2,063   

- Policy advice 3,357 4,210 3,977   

First World War Centenary  10,380 1,286 1,133 1 

Total Vote Arts, Culture and 
Heritage 

24,991 21,026 17,585   

Vote Sport and Recreation         

Appropriations for output expenses       

Purchase advice and monitoring of 
sport and recreation Crown entities 

317 319 312 1 

Total Vote Sport and Recreation 317 319 312   

Total Vote Arts, Culture & 
Heritage and Vote Sport and 
Recreation 

25,308 21,345 17,897   

  

Actual 
expenditure 

2017 
Appropriation 

voted* 

Actual 
expenditure 

2018 

Location of 
end-of-year 

performance 
information** $000 $000 $000 

Appropriation for capital expenditure       

Ministry for Culture and Heritage – 
Permanent Legislative Authority 

168 430 151   
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Actual 
expenditure 

2017 
Appropriation 

voted* 

Actual 
expenditure 

2018 

Location of 
end-of-year 

performance 
information** $000 $000 $000 

VOTE ARTS, CULTURE AND HERITAGE       

Appropriations for non-departmental output expenses     

Management of historic places         

Antarctic Heritage Trust 706 526 526 5 

Heritage New Zealand 12,988 12,988 12,988 5 

  13,694 13,514 13,514   

Museum services         

Museum of New Zealand Te 
Papa Tongarewa 

29,574 29,574 29,574 5 

Ngā Taonga 5,020 5,020 5,020 5 

  34,594 34,594 34,594   

Performing arts services         

New Zealand Symphony 
Orchestra 

14,646 14,646 14,646 5 

Royal New Zealand Ballet 5,384 5,384 5,384 5 

Te Matatini 1,948 1,948 1,948 5 

New Zealand Music Commission 1,578 1,578 1,578 5 

  23,556 23,556 23,556   

Promotion and support of the arts and film       

Creative New Zealand 15,689 15,689 15,689 5 

New Zealand Film Commission 5,401 5,401 5,401 5 

  21,090 21,090 21,090   

Protection of taonga tūturu         

Museums and conservation 
service providers 

375 400 378 6 

  375 400 378   

Public Broadcasting Services         

NZ On Air 129,426 132,266 132,266 5 

Radio New Zealand International 1,900 1,900 1,900 5 

Broadcasting Standards Authority 609 609 609 5 

  131,935 134,775 134,775   

Total appropriations for output 
expenses 

225,244 227,929 227,907   
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Actual 
expenditure 

2017 
Appropriation 

voted* 

Actual 
expenditure 

2018 

Location of 
end-of-year 

performance 
information** $000 $000 $000 

Appropriation for other 
expenses to be incurred by the 
Crown 

        

Commonwealth war graves 2,558 2,596 2,595 6 

Development and maintenance of 
War graves, historic graves and 
monuments  

563 1,234 1,065 6 

Treaty of Waitangi 
Commemorations 

283 288 283 6 

Total appropriations for other 
expenses to be incurred by the 
Crown 

3,404 4,118 3,943   

Appropriations for capital 
expenditure 

        

Museum of New Zealand Te 
Papa Tongarewa 

3,000 3,000 3,000 4 

Museum of New Zealand Te 
Papa Tongarewa – Capital Works 

10,000 10,000 10,000 4 

National War Memorial – Capital 
Investment 

213 250 249 6 

National War Memorial Park 497 3,150 3,091 6 

Transfer of Heritage Properties to 
Heritage New Zealand 

22,750 - - 5 

Total appropriations for capital 
expenditure 

36,460 16,400 16,340   

Total non-departmental Vote 
Arts, Culture and Heritage 

265,108 248,447 248,190   
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Actual 
expenditure 

2017 
Appropriation 

voted* 

Actual 
expenditure 

2018 

Location of 
end-of-year 

performance 
information** $000 $000 $000 

VOTE SPORT AND 
RECREATION 

        

Appropriations for non-
departmental output expenses 

        

Sports anti-doping 3,239 3,239 3,239 3 

Sport and recreation programmes 19,151 19,151 19,151 2 

High-performance sport 62,192 62,192 62,192 2 

Total appropriation for output 
expenses 

84,582 84,582 84,582   

Appropriations for other 
expenses to be incurred by the 
Crown 

        

Miscellaneous grants 44 44 44 6 

Prime Minister’s sport 
scholarships 

4,250 4,250 4,250 6 

Total appropriations for other 
expenses to be incurred by the 
Crown 

4,294 4,294 4,294   

Total non-departmental Vote 
Sport and Recreation 

88,876 88,876 88,876   

 
 
*This includes adjustments made in the Supplementary Estimates and Cabinet decisions made before 30 June 2018. 

**The numbers in this column represent where the end-of-year performance information has been reported for each 

appropriation administered by the Ministry, as detailed below: 

1. The Ministry’s 2017/18 annual report.  
2. Sport New Zealand’s 2017/18 annual report. 
3. Drug Free Sport New Zealand’s 2017/18 annual report. 
4. Te Papa’s 2017/18 annual report. 
5. To be reported by the Minister for Arts, Culture and Heritage in the 2017/18 Minister’s Report on Non-Departmental 

Appropriations. 
6. No reporting due to an exemption obtained under section 15D of the PFA. 
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Details of departmental multi-year appropriations 
for the year ended 30 June 2018 
 

Cultural Diplomacy International Programme 

The Ministry has a departmental multi-year appropriation for the Cultural Diplomacy International 
Programme. This appropriation is for management and delivery of an international cultural diplomacy 
programme through a series of projects and activities primarily focussed on Asia and other regions 
where New Zealand is pursuing free trade agreements. This appropriation commenced on 1 July 2015 
and expires on 30 June 2020.  

  

  
Actual  

2018 

$000 

VOTE ARTS, CULTURE AND HERITAGE 
  

Cultural Diplomacy International Programme  

Original appropriation                 8,345  

Cumulative adjustments                        -  

Total adjusted appropriation                 8,345  

    

Cumulative actual expenditure 1 July                 1,748  

Current year actual expenditure                 1,208  

Cumulative actual expenditure 30 June                  2,956  

Appropriation remaining 30 June                 5,389  

 

 

Performance information for this appropriation has been reported by the Ministry for Culture and 
Heritage in this Annual Report 2017/18. 
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Details of non-departmental multi-year 
appropriations  
for the year ended 30 June 2018 
 

Earthquake-prone Heritage Buildings 

The Ministry has a non-departmental multi-year appropriation for supporting earthquake strengthening 
of privately-owned heritage buildings. This appropriation commenced on 1 July 2016 and expires on 
30 June 2020.  

  

Actual 

2018 

$000 

VOTE ARTS, CULTURE AND HERITAGE 
  

Earthquake-prone Heritage Buildings 

Original appropriation                  10,200  

Cumulative adjustments                           -    

Total adjusted appropriation                  10,200  

Cumulative actual expenditure 1 July 2017                            -    

Current year actual expenditure                  344  

Cumulative actual expenditure 30 June 2018                       344  

Appropriation remaining 30 June 2018                    9,856  

 

New Zealand Screen Production Grant 

The Ministry has a non-departmental multi-year appropriation for providing grant assistance or equity 
investments for New Zealand screen productions that meet the qualifying tests as determined by the 
New Zealand Film Commission. This appropriation commenced on 1 July 2017 and expires on 30 
June 2021.  

  

Actual 

2018 

$000 

VOTE ARTS, CULTURE AND HERITAGE 
  

New Zealand Screen Production Grant 

Original appropriation                 63,940  

Cumulative adjustments                       518  

Total adjusted appropriation                  64,458  

Cumulative actual expenditure 1 July 2017                            -  

Current year actual expenditure                  17,008  

Cumulative actual expenditure 30 June 2018                  17,008  

Appropriation remaining 30 June 2018                  47,450  



 

Ministry for Culture and Heritage Annual Report 2017-18/ 44 
 

Regional Culture and Heritage Fund 

The Ministry has a non-departmental multi-year appropriation for providing contributions to capital 
projects at regional cultural and heritage institutions. This appropriation commenced on 1 July 2016 
and expires on 30 June 2019.  

 

  

Actual 

$000 

$000 

VOTE ARTS, CULTURE AND HERITAGE 
  

Regional Culture and Heritage Fund 

Original appropriation             30,527  

Cumulative adjustments           (380) 

Total adjusted appropriation             30,147  

Cumulative actual expenditure 1 July 2017 10,827 

Current year actual expenditure             1,506  

Cumulative actual expenditure 30 June 2018             12,333  

Appropriation remaining 30 June 2018             17,814  

 

Performance information for these non-departmental multi-year appropriations has been reported by 
the Minister for Arts, Culture and Heritage in the 2017/18 Minister’s Report on Non-Departmental 
Appropriations. 
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Statement of expenses and capital expenditure 
incurred without, or in excess of, appropriation or 
other authority  

for the year ended 30 June 2018 
 

There were no instances of expenditure incurred without or in excess of, appropriation for the year 
ended 30 June 2018. 

 

Statement of departmental capital injections 
for the year ended 30 June 2018 
 

The Ministry has not received any capital injections during the year without, or in excess of, authority. 
(2017: nil).  
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Statement of responsibility 

I am responsible, as Chief Executive of the Ministry for Culture and Heritage for: 

• the preparation of the Ministry’s financial statements, and statements of expenses and capital 

expenditure, and for the judgements expressed in them; 

• having in place a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable assurance as to 

the integrity and reliability of financial reporting; 

• ensuring that end-of-year performance information on each appropriation administered by the 

Ministry is provided in accordance with sections 19A to 19C of the Public Finance Act 1989, 

whether or not that information is included in this annual report; and 

• the accuracy of any end-of-year performance information prepared by the Ministry, whether or 

not that information is included in the annual report. 

In my opinion: 

• the financial statements fairly reflect the financial position of the Ministry as at 30 June 2018 

and its operations for the year ended on that date; and 

• the forecast financial statements fairly reflect the forecast financial position of the Ministry as 

at 30 June 2019 and its operations for the year ending on that date. 

 

 

 

 

      

Paul James      
Chief Executive     
27 September 2018               
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Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense  
for the year ended 30 June 2018 

 

  Note 
Actual 

2017 
Budget* 

2018 
Actual 

2018 
Forecast* 

2019 

  $000 $000 $000 $000 

Revenue           

Revenue Crown        17,232       18,744       26,289       25,462  

Revenue from other              
departments 

            835            545            995              63  

Revenue from third parties             550         2,511            863         1,411  

Total revenue        18,617       21,800       28,147       26,936  

Expenditure           

Personnel costs           3       10,885       10,794       11,548       14,653  

Other operating expenses           4       15,065       10,324         7,410       11,767  

Depreciation and                    
amortisation expenses 

            172            430            177            430  

Capital charge           6              94            102                 -              86  

Total expenditure        26,216       21,650       19,135       26,936  

Net surplus/(deficit)   (7,599)           150         9,012                 -  

Other comprehensive 
revenue and expense 

                 -                 -                 -                 -  

Total comprehensive 
revenue and expense 

  (7,599)           150         9,012                 -  

 

*The statement of accounting policies provides explanations of these figures which are not subject to audit. 
 

 

 

 

 

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in note 12. 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.  
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Statement of financial position 

as at 30 June 2018 
 

  Note 
Actual 

2017 
Budget* 

2018 
Actual 

2018 
Forecast* 

2019 

  $000 $000 $000 $000 

ASSETS           

Current assets           

Cash and cash equivalents        2,808      2,242      5,354        1,827  

Debtors and other receivables           627         250      7,745           250  

Prepayments        1,530      1,552         506           527  

Total current assets        4,965      4,044    13,605        2,604  

Non-current assets           

Property, plant and 
equipment 

5         467         452         479           608  

Intangible assets             99         103           60             62  

Total non-current assets           566         555         539           670  

Total assets        5,531      4,599    14,144        3,274  

LIABILITIES           

Current liabilities           

Creditors and other payables 7      2,268      2,502      1,727        1,327  

Provisions 8              -              -      8,857                -  

Repayment of surplus to the 
Crown 

9              -         150      1,413                -  

Employee entitlements 10         510         450         634           450  

Total current liabilities        2,778      3,102    12,631        1,777  

Non-current liabilities           

Employee entitlements 10           48           50           66             50  

Provisions 8      8,857              -              -                -  

Total non-current liabilities        8,905           50           66             50  

Total liabilities      11,683      3,152    12,697        1,827  

Taxpayers’ funds   (6,152)     1,447      1,447        1,447  

 
*The statement of accounting policies provides explanations of these figures which are not subject to audit.  

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in note 12. 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 30 June 2018 
 

  

  Note 
Actual   

2017 
Budget*  

2018 
Actual  

2018 
Forecast* 

2019 

  $000 $000 $000 $000 

Taxpayers’ funds           

Balance at 1 July           1,447          1,447  (6,152)         1,447  

Total comprehensive revenue 
and expense for the year  

  (7,599)            150          9,012             -  

Repayment of surplus to the 
Crown 

9                -  (150) (1,413) - 

Balance at 30 June   (6,152)         1,447          1,447          1,447  

 
 

*The statement of accounting policies provides explanations of these figures which are not subject to audit. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in note 12. 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.  
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Statement of cash flows 
for the year ended 30 June 2018 
 

  
Actual    

2017 
Budget* 

2018 
Actual    

2018 
Forecast* 

2019 

$000 $000 $000 $000 

Cash flows from operating 
activities 

        

Receipts from the Crown    16,837     17,719  18,302    32,634  

Receipts from other 
departments/third parties 

     1,262       3,056  1,942      1,474  

Payments to employees (10,984) (10,894) (11,403) (14,753) 

Payments to suppliers (6,156) (9,199) (6,184) (20,197) 

Goods and services tax (net) (58)              -  40              -  

Payments for capital charge (94) (102) - (86) 

Net cash flows from operating 
activities 

807 580 2,697 (928) 

Cash flows from investing 
activities 

        

Purchase of property, plant and 
equipment 

(117) (390) (141) (390) 

Receipts from sale property, plant 
and equipment 

- - - - 

Purchase of intangible assets (19) (40) (10) (40) 

Net cash flows from investing 
activities 

(136) (430) (151) (430) 

Cash flows from financing 
activities 

        

Repayment of surplus (1,307)              -               -  (3,375) 

Net cash flows from financing 
activities 

(1,307)              -               -  (3,375) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held (636)         150  2,546 (4,733) 

Cash at the beginning of year      3,444       2,092  2,808      6,560  

Cash at the end of year 2,808 2,242 5,354 1,827 

 

 

*The statement of accounting policies provides explanations of these figures which are not subject to audit.  

 

 
Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in note 12. 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of commitments 
as at 30 June 2018 

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments 

The Ministry leases property, plant and equipment in the normal course of its business, with the main 
commitment relating to the premises.  

The Ministry has entered into a lease of the Old Public Trust building, with a commencement date of 
31 October 2015 and expiry on 30 October 2030. The lease term includes two further rights of renewal, 
each for a three year term, meaning a final expiry date of 30 October 2036. 

There are no restrictions placed on the Ministry by any of its leasing arrangements. 

 

  

Actual Actual 

2017 2018 

$000 $000 

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments    

The future aggregate minimum lease payments to be paid under 
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

   

Not later than one year 762 762 

Later than one year and not later than five years 3,049 3,049 

Later than five years 6,354 5,592 

Total non-cancellable operating lease commitments 10,165 9,403 

Capital commitments  

Capital commitments are the aggregate amount of capital expenditure contracted for the acquisition of 
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets that have not been paid for or not recognised as 
a liability at balance date. 

Cancellable commitments that have penalty or exit costs explicit in the agreement on exercising that 
option to cancel are included in the statement of commitments at the lower of the remaining contractual 
commitment and the value of that penalty or exit cost.  

The Ministry has $60,000 of capital commitments relating to the development of the Protected Objects 
Database. $60,000 is due within one year (2017: $60,000). 

 

  

Actual Actual 

2017 2018 

$000 $000 

Capital commitments    

Later than one year and not later than five years 60 60 

Total non-cancellable operating lease commitments 60 60 
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Statement of contingent liabilities and  
contingent assets  
as at 30 June 2018 

Quantifiable contingent liabilities 

The Ministry has no contingent liabilities at 30 June 2018. 

(2017: $459 million).The 2017 comparative related to the exhibition The Body Laid Bare, Masterpieces 
from the Tate Gallery hosted by the Auckland Art Gallery between March and July 2017. The exhibition 
was indemnified under the Government Indemnity of Touring Exhibitions Scheme from 7 February to 
28 July 2017 to cover the period of transit and display of these valuable works of art. 

 

Contingent assets 

The Ministry has no contingent assets at 30 June 2018 (2017: nil). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements 
 
Note 1: Statement of accounting policies 

Reporting Entity 

The Ministry for Culture and Heritage (the Ministry) is a government department as defined by section 
2 of the Public Finance Act 1989 and is domiciled and operates in New Zealand. The relevant 
legislation governing the Ministry’s operations includes the Public Finance Act 1989. The Ministry’s 
ultimate parent is the New Zealand Crown. 

In addition, the Ministry has reported on Crown activities and Trust monies that it administers on pages 
66 to 79. 

The Ministry has designated itself as a public benefit entity (PBE) for the purposes of complying with 
generally accepted accounting practice. 

The financial statements of the Ministry are for the year ended 30 June 2018. The financial statements 
were authorised for issue by the Chief Executive of the Ministry on 27 September 2018. 

Basis of Preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis, and the accounting policies 
have been applied consistently throughout the year. 

Statement of compliance 

The financial statements of the Ministry have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
the Public Finance Act 1989, which include the requirement to comply with New Zealand generally 
accepted accounting practice (NZ GAAP), and Treasury Instructions. 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Tier 2 PBE Standards and 
disclosure concessions have been applied. The criteria under which an entity is eligible to report in 
accordance with Tier 2 PBE Standards are: 

• The Ministry is not large as defined in paragraph 38 of XRB A1. 

• The Ministry does not have public accountability as defined in paragraph 9 of XRB A1.  

These financial statements comply with Tier 2 PBE accounting standards. 

Presentation currency and rounding 

The financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars and all values are rounded to the 
nearest thousand dollars ($000). The functional currency of the Ministry is New Zealand dollars. 

Changes in accounting policies 

There have been no changes in the Ministry’s accounting policies since the date of the last audited 
financial statements. 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Foreign Currency transactions 

Foreign currency transactions (including those for which forward foreign exchange contracts are held) 
are translated into $NZ (the functional currency) using the spot exchange rates at the dates of the 
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions, 
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies, are recognised in the surplus or deficit. 

Goods and services tax  

All items in the financial statements, including appropriation statements, are stated exclusive of goods 
and service tax (GST), except for receivables and payables, which are stated on a GST-inclusive basis. 
Where GST is not recoverable as input tax, then it is recognised as part of the related asset or expense. 
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The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Inland Revenue Department (IRD) is 
included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position. 

The net GST paid to, or received from the IRD, including the GST relating to investing and financing 
activities, is classified as an operating cash flow in the statement of cash flows. 

Income tax  

The Ministry is a public authority and consequently is exempt from income tax. Accordingly, no 
provision has been made for income tax.  

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

In preparing these financial statements, estimates and assumptions have been made concerning the 
future. These estimates and assumptions may differ from the subsequent actual results. Estimates 
and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
There are no estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

Budget and forecast figures 

Basis of the budget and forecast figures 

The budget figures are those included in the Information Supporting the Estimates of Appropriations 
(Budget) for the year ending 30 June 2018. The Budget is 2017 Budget Economic and Fiscal Update 
(BEFU 2017). 

The forecast figures are those included in the Estimates of Appropriations for the year ending 30 June 
2019. The forecast financial statements have been prepared as required by the Public Finance Act to 
communicate forecast financial information for accountability purposes. 

The budget and forecast figures are unaudited and have been prepared using the accounting policies 
adopted in preparing these financial statements. 

The 30 June 2019 forecast figures have been prepared in accordance with PBE FRS 42 Prospective 
Financial Statements and comply with PBE FRS 42. 

The forecast financial statements were approved for issue by the Chief Executive on 4 April 2018. 
The Chief Executive is responsible for the forecast financial statements, including the appropriateness 
of the assumptions underlying them and all other required disclosures. 

While the Ministry regularly updates its forecasts, updated forecast financial statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2019 will not be published. 

Significant assumptions used in preparing the forecast financials 

The forecast figures contained in these financial statements reflect the Ministry’s purpose and 
activities and are based on a number of assumptions on what may occur during the 2018/19 year. 
The forecast figures have been compiled on the basis of existing government policies and Ministerial 
expectations at the time the Main Estimates were finalised. 

The main assumptions, which were adopted as at 4 April 2018, were as follows: 

• The Ministry’s activities and output expectations will expand due to additional funding from the 
successful Budget initiative. The additional funding was provided to build capability within the 
Ministry so that it can support the Government to build national identity, improve access and 
participation in cultural activities, deliver on new government initiatives and grow careers across 
the creative economy. 

• Operating costs were based on historical experience and other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable in the circumstances and are the Ministry’s best estimate of future costs that will be 
incurred. Remuneration rates are based on current wages and salary costs, adjusted for 
anticipated remuneration changes. 

• Estimated year-end information for 2017/18 was used as the opening position for the 2018/19 
forecasts. 
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The actual financial results achieved for 30 June 2019 are likely to vary from the forecast information 
presented, and the variations may be material. 

Since the approval of the forecast, no significant events have occurred which would have a material 
impact on forecast revenue and expenditure.  

 

Note 2: Revenue 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. 

Revenue Crown 

Revenue from the Crown is measured based on the Ministry’s funding entitlement for the reporting 
period. The funding entitlement is established by Parliament when it passes the Appropriation Acts 
for the financial year. The amount of revenue recognised takes into account any amendments to 
appropriations approved in the Appropriation (Supplementary Estimates) Act for the year and certain 
other unconditional funding adjustments formally approved prior to balance date. 

There are no conditions attached to the funding from the Crown. However, the Ministry can incur 
expenses only within the scope and limits of its appropriations. 

The fair value of Revenue Crown has been determined to be equivalent to the funding entitlement. 

Other revenue 

Other departmental and third-party revenue is predominantly derived from work performed on a full 
cost-recovery basis, contributions to other one-off projects, and reimbursement for costs of staff on 
secondment to other agencies. Revenue is recognised when earned and is reported in the financial 
period to which it relates.  

The sale of publications is recognised when the product is sold to the customer. The recorded revenue 
is the gross amount of the sale. 

 

Note 3: Personnel costs 

Superannuation schemes 

Defined contribution plans 

Obligations for contributions to the State Sector Retirement Savings Scheme, Kiwisaver, and 
Government Superannuation Fund are accounted for as defined contribution schemes and are 
recognised as an expense in the surplus or deficit as incurred. 

  

Actual Actual 

2017 2018 

$000 $000 

Salaries and wages 10,453 10,763 

Training and development 117 137 

Employer contributions to defined contribution plans 333 325 

Other personnel costs (18) 323 

Total personnel costs 10,885 11,548 
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Note 4: Other operating expenses 

Operating leases 

An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership of an asset to the lessee. Lease payments under an operating lease are recognised as 
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives received are recognised in 
the surplus or deficit as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term. 

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies 

Determining whether a lease agreement is a finance lease or an operating lease requires judgement 
as to whether the agreement transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the 
Ministry. The Ministry has exercised its judgement on the appropriate classification of property and 
equipment leases, and has determined all lease arrangements to be operating leases. This is after 
consideration of the fair value of the leased asset and the lease term compared to the economic life 
of the asset. 

 

  

Actual Actual 

2017 2018 

$000 $000 

Fees to Audit New Zealand for audit of financial statements                    63                     63  

Rental and leasing expenses*             10,653                1,800  

Other occupancy expenses                  225                   190  

Publicity and research                  253                   272  

Professional and specialist services – Consultancy                  593                   586  

Professional and specialist services - Contractors                  808                1,412  

Travel and associated expenses                  262                   373  

Information communication technology                  715                   711  

Transfer to agencies*                  986                1,256  

Other operating expenses                  507                   747  

Total operating expenses             15,065                7,410  

 
* Transfers to agencies relates to work for the Cultural Diplomacy International Programme and payments to landings site 

trusts for contributions to Tuia commemorations. 

 

  



 

Ministry for Culture and Heritage Annual Report 2017-18/ 58 
 

Note 5: Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment consists of the following asset classes: artwork, leasehold 
improvements, office furniture, office equipment and computer equipment. 

Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. 

Individual assets, or groups of assets, are capitalised if their cost is greater than $2,000. The value of 
an individual asset that is less than $2,000 and is part of a group of similar assets is capitalised. In 
addition, information communications technology (ICT) assets that individually cost more than $1,000 
each and have a useful life greater than 12 months are capitalised. 

Depreciation  

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant and equipment, at rates that will 
write-off the cost (or valuation) of the assets to their estimated residual values over their useful lives. 
The useful lives and associated depreciation rates of major classes of assets have been estimated 
as follows: 

Office Furniture    5 – 12 years  8.5% - 20% 
Office Equipment    5 – 12 years   8.5% - 20% 
Computer Equipment – PC based  3 – 5 years  20% - 33% 
Computer Equipment – other than PCs 2 – 5 years  20% - 50% 
Artwork     100 years  1% 

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated 
remaining useful lives of the improvements, whichever is the shorter.   

The residual value and useful life of an asset is reviewed, and adjusted if applicable, at each financial 
year end. 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets 

The Ministry does not hold any cash-generating assets. Assets are considered cash-generating 
where their primary objective is to generate a commercial return. 

Non-cash generating assets 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets held at cost that have a finite useful life are 
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable service amount. The recoverable service amount is the 
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 

Value in use is depreciated replacement cost for an asset where future economic benefits or service 
potential of the asset are not primarily dependent on the asset’s ability to generate net cash inflows 
and where the Ministry would, if deprived of the asset, replace its remaining future economic benefits 
or service potential. 

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is impaired and the carrying 
amount is written down to the recoverable amount. The impairment loss is recognised in the surplus 
or deficit. The reversal of an impairment loss is also recognised in the surplus or deficit. 
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* Work in progress includes soundproofing at the Old Public Trust Building ($4,400). No other asset classes have assets in 

the course of construction (2017: lecturn being constructed for NWM $4,000). 

 

There are no restrictions over the title of the Ministry’s assets. No assets are pledged as security for 
liabilities.  

Computer 

equipment

Office 

equipment

Office 

furniture

Leasehold 

improvements

Works 

of Art Total

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

 Cost 

 Balance at 1 July 2016             538             110          329                   285        21     1,283 

 Additions               65  -            41                       8  -        114 

 Work in Progress *                 -                 -              4  -  -            4 

 Disposals                 - (1)               -  -  - (1)

 Balance at 30 June and 1 

July 2017 
            603             109          374                   293        21     1,400 

 Additions               53                 -            74                       9           -        136 

 Disposals (212) (13) (177) (57)           - (459)

 Work in progress *                 -                 -               -                       4           -            4 

 Balance at 30 June 2018             444               96          271                   249        21     1,081 

 Balance at 1 July 2016             357               49          324                     81          2        813 

 Depreciation expense               86               14              5                     14          1        120 

 Elimination on disposal                 -                 -               -                        -           -             - 

 Balance at 30 June and 1 

July 2017 
            443               63          329                     95          3        933 

 Depreciation expense               94                 8            11                     15           -        128 

 Elimination on disposal (211) (14) (177) (57)           - (459)

 Balance at 30 June 2018             326               57          163                     53          3        602 

 Carrying amounts 

 At 1 July 2016             181               61              5                   204        19        470 

 At 30 June and 1 July 2017             160               46            45                   198        18        467 

 At 30 June 2018             118               39          108                   196        18        479 

 Accumulated depreciation  

 and impairment losses 
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Note 6: Capital charge 

The capital charge is recognised as an expense in the financial year to which the charge relates. 

The Ministry pays a capital charge to the Crown on its equity (adjusted for memorandum accounts) as 
at 30 June and 31 December each year.  

The Ministry incurred no capital charge in 2017/18 due to its negative equity position at 1 July 2017 
and 1 January 2018. (2017: 1 July 2016 7%; 1 January 2017 6%) 

 

Note 7: Creditors and other payables 

Creditors and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms. 
Therefore, the carrying value of creditors and other payables approximates their fair value. 

 

  

Actual Actual 

2017 2018 

$000 $000 

Payables and deferred revenue under exchange 
transactions 

    

Trade creditors 276 322 

Accrued expenses 302 453 

Total payables and deferred revenue under exchange 
transactions 

578 775 

Payables and deferred revenue under non-exchange 
transactions 

   

GST payable 66 106 

PAYE payable 125 130 

Deferred Revenue 1,499 716 

Total payables and deferred revenue under non-exchange 
transactions 

1,690 952 

Total payables and deferred revenue 2,268 1,727 
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Note 8: Provisions 

A provision is recognised for future expenditure of uncertain amount or timing when: 

• There is a present obligation (either legal or constructive) as a result of a past event; 

• It is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential 
will be required to settle the obligation; and 

• A reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

Lease make-good provision 

The Ministry leases part of the Dominion Museum Building. The building is sublet to the National 
Military Heritage Trust to provide a venue for the Great War Exhibition. Following the planned closure 
of the exhibition in December 2018, the Ministry and National Military Heritage Trust are required to 
make-good any alterations to the premises, remove any fixtures and fittings installed for the exhibition, 
and restore the building to the condition it was in at the commencement of the lease. 

There are material uncertainties associated with the estimation of the make-good provision, in 
particular: 

• The scope of works to decommission the exhibition and complete the make-good. The 
complex nature of the works involved mean different methods could be taken in the 
decommissioning and restoration process. Furthermore, the building owner may accept 
some alterations made as improvements to the previous condition. 

• Market pricing to complete the make-good. This remains uncertain until such time that the 
work is put to tender and contracts with suppliers are negotiated. 

• The extent to which the National Military Heritage Trust is able to contribute to the cost of 
the make-good. 

Therefore, judgement is applied when estimating the provision. The Ministry’s estimate is based on 
independent advice updated in August 2018. This advice provided a range of possible outcomes 
ranging from $6.3 million to $11.0 million.  

The amount provided for is based on the Ministry’s judgement after considering the likely range of 
outcomes. It is also possible the actual expense will fall outside this range. The amount of the final 
obligation could differ materially to the provision recognised at 30 June 2018. 

 

  

Actual Actual 

2017 2018 

$000 $000 

Lease Make-good    

Opening balance                     -                8,857  

Additional provisions made              8,857                       -  

Amounts used                     -                     -  

Closing balance              8,857                8,857  

Total provisions              8,857                8,857  

Current portion               -              8,857  

Non-current portion              8,857  -  

Total provisions              8,857               8,857  
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Note 9: Return of operating surplus 

The return of operating surplus to the Crown is required to be paid by 31 October each year.  

  

Actual     
2017 

Actual    
2018 

$000 $000 

Net surplus/(deficit)   ( 6,152)               9,012  

Approved retention of surplus         -   ( 7,599)  

Total surplus/(deficit) to return         -                 1,413  

 

The Ministry recorded a $9.012 million surplus for the 2017/18 year, as explained below: 

• The Ministry has retained funding of $7.599 million related to the estimated make-good 
costs of the Dominion Museum building at the expiry of the lease in December 2018. The 
expenses to meet these costs were recognised in the 2016/17 financial year. A deficit of 
$7.599 million was incurred in that year. This funding reinstates the Ministry’s previous 
financial position. 

• The Wellington City Council makes an annual contribution of $0.500 million towards 
amounts previously paid by the Crown to support the establishment and operation of the 
Great War Exhibition. As this funding was paid to the Exhibition in previous years, this 
contribution is collected by the Ministry and returned to the Crown. 

• The remainder of the surplus relates to various underspends and rephasing of expenditure 
across the Ministry’s work programme due to planned delays to work on projects including: 
Tuia Encounters 250 and the establishment of a Ministerial Advisory Group for broadcasting. 
The revenue received for these projects will be carried forward into future years when the 
work is due to be completed. 

 

Note 10: Employee entitlements 

Short-term employee entitlements 

Employee entitlements expected to be settled within 12 months of balance date are measured at 
nominal values based on accrued entitlements at current rates of pay. 

These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance date, annual leave and time off in lieu earned 
but not yet taken at balance date, and retiring and long service leave entitlements expected to be 
settled within 12 months.  

A liability and an expense are recognised for bonuses where the Ministry has a contractual obligation 
or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation. 

The Ministry does not recognise any provision for sick leave as employees are not entitled to accrue 
sick leave during their period of employment. 

Long-term employee entitlements 

Employee entitlements that are due to be settled beyond 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period in which the employee renders the related service, such as long service leave and retiring 
leave, are calculated on an actuarial basis. The calculations are based on: 

• likely future entitlements accruing to staff, based on years of service, years to entitlement, the 
likelihood that staff will reach the point of entitlement, and contractual entitlements information; and 

• the present value of the estimated future cash flows. 
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The measurement of the long service and retirement leave obligations depends on a number of 
factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. Two key 
assumptions used in calculating this liability include the discount rate and the salary inflation factor. 
Any changes in these assumptions will affect the carrying amount of the liability. 

The discount rate is based on New Zealand government bond data at 30 June 2018. The salary 
inflation factor has been determined after considering historical patterns and after obtaining advice 
from an independent actuary. The Ministry uses the risk-free discount rates and consumer price index 
assumptions published annually by The Treasury. 

  

Actual Actual 

2017 2018 

$000 $000 

Current portion     

Annual leave 485 559 

Long service leave 25 75 

Total current portion 510 634 

Non-current portion    

Long service leave 48 66 

Retirement leave -  - 

Total non-current portion 48 66 

Total employee entitlements  558 700 

 

Note 11: Related party transactions 

The Ministry is a wholly owned entity of the Crown. The Government significantly influences the roles 
of the Ministry, as well as being its major source of revenue.  

Related party disclosures have not been made for transactions with related parties that are within a 
normal supplier or client/recipient relationship, on terms and conditions no more or less favourable 
than those that it is reasonable to expect the Ministry would have adopted in dealing with the party at 
arm’s length in the same circumstances. Further, transactions with other government agencies (for 
example, government departments and Crown entities) are not disclosed as related party transactions 
when they are consistent with the normal operating arrangements between government agencies and 
undertaken on the normal terms and conditions for such transactions.  

 
Transactions with key management personnel and their close family members 
Key management personnel compensation: 

  

Actual Actual 

2017 2018 

$000 $000 

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 1,120 1,265 

Other long-term benefits 8 17 

Total key management personnel compensation 1,128 1,282 
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Key management personnel of the Ministry comprise the Minister for Arts, Culture and Heritage, the 
Minister of Broadcasting, Communications and Digital Media, the Minister for Sport and Recreation, 
the Chief Executive, and the four members of the Ministry Leadership Team. 

The key management personnel compensation stated above reflects remuneration and other benefits 
of five FTEs, being the Chief Executive and Ministry Leadership Team. It excludes the remuneration 
and other benefits received by the Minister for Arts, Culture and Heritage, the Minister of Broadcasting, 
Communications and Digital Media and the Minister for Sport and Recreation. The Ministers’ 
remuneration and other benefits are not received only for their role as a member of key management 
personnel of the Ministry. The Ministers’ remuneration and other benefits are set by the Remuneration 
Authority under the Civil List Act 1979 and are paid under Permanent Legislative Authority, and not 
paid by the Ministry.   

There are two close family members of key management personnel employed by the Ministry. The 
terms and conditions of these arrangements are no more favourable than the Ministry would have 
adopted if there were no relationship to key management personnel.  

 

Note 12: Explanation of major variances against budget 

Explanations for major variances from the Ministry’s budgeted figures in the Information Supporting 
the Estimates are as follows: 

Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense 

Crown revenue 

The Ministry received $7.599 million of funding related to the Great War Exhibition. This offsets a 
deficit incurred in the 2016/17 financial year and will be used to meet obligations related to the 
provision for make good (see notes 8 and 9 for further detail). 

Revenue from other departments 

Other departmental revenue was $0.450 million higher than originally budgeted due to amounts 
received for the Te Tai Treaty Settlements project, the Landmarks programme and secondments. 

Revenue from third parties 

Revenue from third parties is $1.648 million less than budget largely due to re-phasing of expenditure 
and associated revenue from the Major Events Development Fund for the Tuia Encounters 250 
Commemoration.  This is offset by agency contributions towards the Te Tai Treaty Settlements project, 
plus revenue from publishing. 

Personnel costs 

Personnel costs were $0.754 million higher than budget due to an increase in the number of staff, 
including the addition of the broadcasting portfolio, compared to budget assumptions. 

Other Operating expenses 

Other operating expenses were $2.914 million less than budget, mainly due to the timing of 
expenditure for the Tuia Encounters 250 Commemoration. Contractual arrangements mean that the 
majority of expenditure will be recognised in 2019 when the commemoration takes place. Also, 
expenditure on CDIP projects was lower than budgeted. 

Statement of financial position 

Cash 

Cash is $3.112 million greater than budget due to retained surpluses from the prior financial year and 
current financial year, as well as an annual contribution of $0.500 million towards establishment and 
operation of the Great War Exhibition from the Wellington City Council, to be returned to the Crown. 
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Debtors and other receivables 

Debtors and other receivables are $7.495 million greater than budget due to the $7.599 million of 
funding relating to the make good provision (see notes 8 and 9 for more details). This funding will be 
drawn down from Treasury when the make good costs are incurred in 2018/19. 

Prepayments 

Prepayments are $1.046 million less than budgeted due to forecasting 17 months of prepayment for 
the Dominion Museum Building lease, instead of 5 months. 

Provisions 

Provisions are $8.857 million greater than budget because the make good on the Dominion Museum 
building was not confirmed at the time of the preparation of the budget. 

 

Note 13: Events after the balance date 

No event has occurred since the end of the financial period (not otherwise dealt with in the financial 
statements) that has affected, or may significantly affect, the Ministry’s operations or position as at 30 
June 2018 (2017: nil). 
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Non-departmental statements and schedules 
for the year ended 30 June 2018 
The following non-departmental statements and schedules record the revenue, expenses, assets, 
liabilities, commitments, contingent liabilities, contingent assets, and trust accounts that the Ministry 
manages on behalf of the Crown.  

 

Schedule of non-departmental revenue 
for the year ended 30 June 2018 
 

  
Actual      

2017 
Budget* 

2018 
Actual     

2018 

$000 $000 $000 

Vote Arts, Culture and Heritage       

Broadcasting Standards Authority – fines                   9                    -                    6  

Miscellaneous               203                    -             1,963  

Total non-departmental revenue               212                    -             1,969  

 

*The statement of accounting policies provides explanations of these figures which are not subject to audit. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in note 7. 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 

For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the year, refer to the 

consolidated Financial Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2018. 
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Schedule of non-departmental expenses 
for the year ended 30 June 2018 
 

  
Actual       

2017 
Budget*  

2018 
Actual      

2018 

$000 $000 $000 

Vote Arts, Culture & Heritage and  
      

Vote Sport and Recreation       

Grants, subsidy and benefit expenses 40,008 53,844  23,152 

Other operating expenses 313,055            316,690  319,460 

Depreciation – buildings 175 426  254 

GST input expense 51,208 55,644 51,731 

Total non-departmental expenses 404,446            426,604  394,597 

 

*The statement of accounting policies provides explanations of these figures which are not subject to audit. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in note 7. 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 

For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the year, refer to the 

consolidated Financial Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2018. 
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Schedule of non-departmental assets 

as at 30 June 2018 
 

    
Actual    

2017 
Budget* 

2018 
Actual   

2018 

Note 
$000 $000 $000 

Assets         

Current assets         

Cash and cash equivalents  9,423 3,928 6,737 

Debtors and other receivables                  -    20             4,760  

Total current assets   9,423 3,948 11,497 

Non-current assets         

Property, plant and equipment         

Land 3 27,275 28,260 4,360 

Buildings 2 7,955 7,655 38,745 

Leasehold improvements 4 682 645 636 

Total non-current assets   35,912 36,560 43,741 

Total non-departmental assets   45,335 40,508 55,238 

 

*The statement of accounting policies provides explanations of these figures which are not subject to audit. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in note 7. 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 

For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the year, refer to the 

consolidated Financial Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2018. 
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Schedule of non-departmental liabilities 

as at 30 June 2018 

    
Actual    

2017 
Budget* 

2018 
Actual    

2018 

Note $000 $000 $000 

Liabilities         

Current liabilities         

Creditors and other payables                253               200               427  

Grants payable 5         10,177                    -            2,219  

Provisions 6  -   -            3,000  

Total current liabilities           10,430               200            5,646  

Total non-departmental liabilities           10,430               200            5,646  

 

*The statement of accounting policies provides explanations of these figures which are not subject to audit. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in note 7. 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 

For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the year, refer to the 

consolidated Financial Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2018. 



 

Ministry for Culture and Heritage Annual Report 2017-18/ 70 
 

Schedule of non-departmental contingent liabilities 
and contingent assets 
as at 30 June 2018 

Contingent liabilities 

The Ministry on behalf of the Crown has no contingent liabilities. 

In 2017 contingencies were disclosed under the Public Works Act 1981 for compensation resulting 
from the acquisition of the easement taken under section 18 of the National War Memorial Park 
(Pukeahu). The claim of $4.604 million is subject to interest and therefore is approximately $6 million. 
In 2018 these claims have been classified as a provision. 

 
Contingent assets 

The Ministry on behalf of the Crown has no contingent assets (2017: nil). 

 

Schedule of non-departmental commitments 
as at 30 June 2018 

The Ministry, on behalf of the Crown, has no non-cancellable capital or lease commitments (2017: 
nil). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 

For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the year, refer to the 

consolidated Financial Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2018. 
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Statement of trust monies 

for the year ended 30 June 2018 
 

  

Opening 
balance 

2017 Contributions Distributions Revenue Expenditure               

Closing 
balance 

2018 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

New Zealand 
Historical Atlas 

        160                       -                       -               2                     -         162  

New Zealand 
History Research 

        784                       -  ( 100)             23                     -         707  

New Zealand Oral 
History Awards 

     1,412                       -  ( 101)             48                     -      1,359  

Dictionary of New 
Zealand 
Biography 

          16                       -                       -              1  ( 7)           10  

War History           70                       -                       -               2  ( 24)           48  

National War 
Memorial 
Endowment fund 

            8                       -                       -               -                    -             8  

Total      2,450                       -  ( 201)            76  ( 31)      2,294  

 

New Zealand Historical Atlas Trust 

This trust was established to hold New Zealand Lottery Grants Board funds, donations and royalties 
from sales, to be used for the production of the New Zealand Historical Atlas and subsidiary volumes.  

New Zealand History Research Trust 

This trust was established to hold New Zealand Lottery Grants Board funds to be used to make awards 
to individuals and groups for historical research and writing projects.  

New Zealand Oral History Awards  

This trust was established to hold funds from the Government of the Commonwealth of Australia, gifted 
to New Zealand in 1990 specifically to gather oral histories of importance to this country. The income 
from these funds is used to promote oral history in New Zealand.  

Dictionary of New Zealand Biography Trust 

This trust was established to hold funds from the New Zealand Lottery Grants Board, sales of 
publications, and private sponsorship or fundraising for the production of the Dictionary of New Zealand 
Biography and subsidiary volumes.  

War History Trust 

This trust was established to hold funds bequeathed to the Ministry by the estate of Mr J B Watson, a 
long-time supporter of research into New Zealand’s military history. The funds and any interest income 
are to be used for the researching and writing of works on New Zealand’s involvement in overseas 
conflicts.  

National War Memorial Endowment Fund 

This trust holds funds donated to the RNZRSA to be applied and previously managed by the 
National War Memorial Advisory Council for certain activities at the National War Memorial. 
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Notes to the non-departmental schedules and 
statements  

 

Note 1: Statement of accounting policies 

Reporting Entity  

These non-departmental schedules and statements present financial information on public funds that 
are managed by the Ministry on behalf of the Crown. 

These non-departmental balances are consolidated into the Financial Statements of the Government 
for the year ended 30 June 2018. For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position, results of 
operations, and cash flows for the year, refer to the Financial Statements of the Government for the 
year ended 30 June 2018. 

Basis of Preparation 

The non-departmental schedules and statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
accounting policies of the Financial Statements of the Government, Treasury Instructions, and 
Treasury Circulars.  

Measurement and recognition rules applied in the preparation of these non-departmental statements 
and schedules are consistent with New Zealand generally accepted accounting practice (Tier 1 Public 
Sector Public Benefit Entity Accounting Standards) as appropriate for public benefit entities. 

Significant Accounting Policies 

Significant accounting policies are included in the notes to which they relate. 

Significant accounting policies that do not relate to a specific note are outlined below. 

Goods and services tax 

All items in the financial statements, including appropriation statements, are stated exclusive of goods 
and services tax (GST), except for receivables and payables, which are stated on a GST-inclusive 
basis. In accordance with Treasury Instructions, GST is returned on revenue received on behalf of the 
Crown, where applicable. However, an input tax deduction is not claimed on non-departmental 
expenditure. Instead, the amount of GST applicable to non-departmental expenditure is recognised as 
a separate expense and eliminated against GST revenue on consolidation of the Financial Statements 
of the Government.  

Budget figures 

The budget figures are those included in the Estimates of Appropriations (Budget) for the year ending 
30 June 2018. The Budget is 2017 Budget Economic and Fiscal Update (BEFU 2017). The budget 
figures have been prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP, using accounting policies that are 
consistent with those adopted in preparing these financial statements. 

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

In preparing these financial statements, estimates and assumptions have been made concerning the 
future. These estimates and assumptions may differ from the subsequent actual results. Estimates 
and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  

Trust Monies 

The Ministry administers trust monies on behalf of the Crown under Part VII of the Public Finance Act 
1989. Under the Act, and by delegation from the Secretary to the Treasury, trust money can only be 
invested on deposit with New Zealand registered banks or in New Zealand Government stock. Trust 
money is also managed so that there is no significant concentration of credit risk. Interest rate risk is 
managed by investing across a wide range of maturity dates, subject to liquidity requirements.  
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Note 2: Non-residential Buildings 

Property, plant and equipment administered by the Ministry on behalf of the Crown includes land, non-
residential buildings and leasehold improvements. These assets are carried at fair value less 
subsequent impairment losses and, for non-land assets, less subsequent accumulated depreciation. 
Land and buildings are revalued every three years. If it is established during the intervening period that 
an item of plant, property and equipment’s carrying value may be materially different from its fair value, 
a revaluation will be sought.  

Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis at rates calculated to allocate the cost or valuation of 
an item of property, plant and equipment, less any estimated residual value, over its estimated useful 
life.  

The Ministry, on behalf of the Crown, currently depreciates non-residential buildings at 2% per annum. 
Leasehold improvements are depreciated 6.67%.  

 

  

Massey 
Memorial 

National 
War 

Memorial 

Canterbury 
Earthquake 

Memorial 

Pukeahu 
National 

War 
Memorial 

Park 

Total 
buildings 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Cost or valuation           

Balance at 1 July 2016           700          7,362                    -                 -         8,062  

Additions  -  
                

-  
                  -                 -                -  

Work in Progress                -             213                    -                 -            213  

Revaluation  -   -                    -                 -                -  

Balance at 30 June / 1 July 2017           700          7,575                    -                 -         8,275  

Additions                -               55            9,528                 -         9,583  

Work in Progress                -             285                    -                 -            285  

Revaluation ( 202)  ( 2,568)                    -                 -  ( 2,770)  

Reclassification -  -         23,418  23,418  

Balance at 30 June 2018           498          5,347            9,528       23,418  38,791  

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses       

Balance at 1 July 2016             14             144                    -                 -            158  

Depreciation expense             14             148                    -                 -            162  

Balance at 30 June / 1 July 2017             28             292                    -                 -            320  

Depreciation expense              14             148                 46                 -            208  
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Massey 
Memorial 

National 
War 

Memorial 

Canterbury 
Earthquake 

Memorial 

Pukeahu 
National 

War 
Memorial 

Park 

Total 
buildings 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Depreciation reversal on 
revaluation 

( 42)  ( 440)                    -                 -  ( 482)  

Balance at 30 June 2018                -  
                

-  
               46                 -              46  

Carrying amounts           

At 1 July 2016           686          7,218                    -                 -         7,904  

At 30 June and 1 July 2017           672          7,283                    -                 -         7,955  

At 30 June 2018           498          5,347            9,482       23,418       38,745  

 

 

The National War Memorial and Massey Memorial were revalued as at 30 June 2018 by Aon Risk 
Solutions (an independent registered valuer) using depreciated building cost in accordance with NZ 
IAS PBE standards. The Ministry on behalf of the Crown revalues the memorials every three years. 
The balance of the revaluation reserve at 30 June 2018 is nil (2017: nil).  The cumulative value of 
revaluations in this asset class is $2.664 million.  

Land improvements at the National War Memorial Park totalling $23.418 million have been reclassified 
at 30 June 2018 from Land to Non-Residential buildings. 
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Note 3: Land 
 

  

Massey 
Memorial 

National 
War 

Memorial 

Pukeahu 
National War 

Memorial Park 
Total Land 

$000 $000 $000 $000 

Cost or valuation         

Balance at 1 July 2016              815            4,500                 21,935          27,250  

Additions  -   -                        25                 25  

Revaluation  -   -   -   -  

Balance at 30 June / 1 July 2017              815            4,500                 21,960          27,275  

Additions 
                  

-  
                  

-  
                 3,000            3,000  

Revaluation ( 405)  ( 550)  ( 1,542)  ( 2,497)  

Reclassification -  - ( 23,418)  ( 23,418) 

Balance at 30 June 2018              410            3,950  -                                   4,360  

 
 
The National War Memorial, Pukeahu National War Memorial Park and the Massey Memorial were 
revalued as at 30 June 2018 by Aon Risk Solutions (an independent valuer) using market-based 
evidence in accordance with NZ IAS PBE accounting standards.  

The Ministry on behalf of the Crown revalues the land every three years. The balance of the revaluation 
reserve at 30 June 2018 is nil (2017:$1.503 million), with a recorded loss of $0.994m.   

Land improvements at Pukeahu National War Memorial Park totalling $23.418 million have been 
reclassified at 30 June 2018 from Land to Non-Residential buildings. 
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Note 4: Leasehold improvements 
 

  

Queen Elizabeth II 
Pukeahu Education 

Centre 

Total 
Leasehold 

Improvements 

$000 $000 

Cost or valuation    

Balance at 1 July 2016 223 223 

Additions 472 472 

Revaluation - - 

Balance at 30 June / 1 July 2017 695 695 

Additions                                 -                           -    

Revaluation                                 -                           -    

Balance at 30 June 2018 695 695 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses    

Balance at 1 July 2016 - - 

Depreciation expense                                13                        13  

Balance at 30 June / 1 July 2017                                13                        13  

Depreciation expense  46 46 

Depreciation reversal on revaluation                                 -                           -    

Balance at 30 June 2018 59 59 

Carrying amounts    

At 1 July 2016 223 223 

At 30 June and 1 July 2017 682 682 

At 30 June 2018 636 636 

 
In 2016 work started on the refurbishment of the former Home of Compassion crèche located within 
Pukeahu National War Memorial Park. The fit-out work was completed in March 2017.   
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Note 5: Liabilities 

Grant expenditure 

Non-discretionary grants are those awarded if the grant application meets specified criteria. They are 
recognised as expenditure when an application that meets the specified criteria for the grant has been 
received.  

Discretionary grants are those grants where the Ministry has no obligation to award on receipt of the 
grant application. They are recognised as expenditure when approved by the grants approvals 
committee and the approval has been communicated to the applicant. 

Grants with substantive conditions are recognised as an expense at the earlier of the grant payment 
date or when the grant conditions have been satisfied. 

The most significant grant schemes operated by the Ministry are: 

1) The Regional Culture and Heritage Fund (RCHF) 

The RCHF is a capital fund of last resort for the performing arts sector and the broader art 
gallery, museums, and whare taonga sectors. The grants are for the purpose of renovating, 
restoring, adding to, and constructing buildings in which cultural and/or heritage activities take 
place. 

2) The Heritage Earthquake Upgrade Incentive Programme (Heritage EQUIP) 

The Heritage EQUIP scheme provides information and funding to assist private building 
owners to seismically strengthen their earthquake-prone heritage buildings. 

3) New Zealand Screen Production Grants – Domestic (NZSPG) 

The purpose of the NZSPG is to build the sustainability, scale and critical mass of the domestic 
film industry and support the development of New Zealand creatives. The grants provide 
cultural benefits to New Zealand by supporting the creation of New Zealand content and 
stories. 

Administration of NZSPG grants is performed by the New Zealand Film Commission 

A summary of the expenses and liabilities associated with each scheme is below. 

 

  

Heritage 
EQUIP 

RCHF 
NZSPG 

Domestic 
Total 

Grants 

$000 $000 $000 $000 

Grants Payable         

Balance at 1 July 2016  -   -                    -                -  

Grants expensed during period  -        10,827          24,887       35,714  

Payments made during period  -  ( 4,878)  ( 20,659)  ( 25,537)  

Balance at 30 June / 1 July 2017                -          5,949            4,228       10,177  

Grants expensed during period           344          1,506          17,008       18,858  

Payments made during period ( 131)  ( 5,449)  ( 21,236)  ( 26,816)  

Balance at 30 June 2018           213          2,006  -         2,219  
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Note 6: Provisions 

A provision is recognised for future expenditure of uncertain amount or timing when: 

• There is a present obligation (either legal or constructive) as a result of a past event; 

• It is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential 
will be required to settle the obligation; and 

• A reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

Public Works Act 

Claims have been made to the Ministry on behalf of the Crown, under the Public Works Act 1981, for 
compensation resulting from the acquisition of the easement taken under section 18 of the National 
War Memorial Park (Pukeahu) Empowering Act 2012, enabling part of the Park to be constructed on 
land owned by the claimants. Landscaping related to the Park has been undertaken on this land. 

Section 18 of the National War Memorial Park (Pukeahu) Empowering Act 2012 entitles the 
landowners to compensation under the Public Works Act 1981 for the taking of this easement. The 
compensation claimed is $4.604 million. This amount is accruing interest and the total claim therefore 
expected is approximately $6 million. 

There is uncertainty over the claims process. There are a number of steps that have yet to take place 
to assess and agree the compensation payable. The Ministry has provided for $3.000 million, being a 
mid-point between nil and the amount claimed. This acknowledges the wide range in possible 
outcomes as at 30 June. 

 

  

Actual Actual 

2017 2018 

$000 $000 

Public Works Act    

Balance at 1 July 2017                     -                -   

Additional provisions made              -               3,000  

Amounts used                     -                     -  

Balance at 30 June 2018              -                3,000  

Total provisions -                3,000  

Current portion                      -  
                     

3,000  

Non-current portion              -                       -  

Total provisions              -               3,000  
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Note 7: Explanations of major variances against budget 

The major variances from the Ministry’s non-departmental estimated figures in the Main Estimates are 
as follows: 

Schedule of non-departmental revenue and expenses 

Grant and Subsidy Expenses 

Grant and subsidy expenses were $30.692 million less than budget due to fewer projects (RCHF and 
NZ SPG grants) meeting grant criteria than anticipated. 

Schedule of non-departmental assets 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash at year end was $2.809 million higher than budget due to drawing down of funds from the 
Treasury for grant payments to be paid in the 2018/19 financial year. 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

Property, plant and equipment was $7.181 million higher than budget due to the transfer of the 
Canterbury Earthquake National Memorial, offset by revaluation adjustments to the Massey 
Memorial and National War Memorial.   

Schedule of non-departmental liabilities 

Current Liabilities 

Provisions was $3.000 million higher than budget due to the provisioning of the Public Works Act 
claim for compensation resulting from the acquisition of the easement taken under section 18 of the 
National War Memorial Park (Pukeahu) Empowering Act 2012, enabling part of the Park to be 
constructed on land owned by the claimants (see note 6 for details). This was accounted for as a 
contingent liability at the time of preparation of the budget. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the readers of Ministry for Culture and Heritage’s 
annual report for the year ended 30 June 2018 

 

The Auditor-General is the auditor of the Ministry for Culture and Heritage (the Ministry). The 
Auditor-General has appointed me, Chrissie Murray, using the staff and resources of Audit 
New Zealand, to carry out, on his behalf, the audit of: 

• the financial statements of the Ministry on pages 48 to 65 that comprise: 

o the statement of financial position, statement of commitments, statement of 

contingent liabilities and contingent assets as at 30 June 2018;  

o the statement of comprehensive revenue and expense, statement of changes in 

equity, and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date; and 

o the notes to the financial statements that include accounting policies and other 

explanatory information; 

• the performance information prepared by the Department for the year ended 30 June 

2018 on pages 6 to 31;  

• the statements of expenses and capital expenditure of the Department for the year ended 

30 June 2018 on pages 37 to 45; and  

• the schedules of non-departmental activities which are managed by the Ministry on behalf 

of the Crown on pages 66 to 79 that comprise: 

o the schedules of assets, liabilities, commitments, and contingent liabilities and assets 

as at 30 June 2018; 

o the schedules of expenses and revenue for the year ended 30 June 2018; 

o the statement of trust monies for the year ended 30 June 2018; and 

o the notes to the schedules that include accounting policies and other explanatory 

information. 

Opinion 

In our opinion: 

• the financial statements of the Department on pages 48 to 65: 

o present fairly, in all material respects: 
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▪ its financial position as at 30 June 2018; and 

▪ its financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date; 

and 

o comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand in 

accordance with Public Benefit Entity Standards.  

• the performance information of the Department on pages 6 to 31: 

o presents fairly, in all material respects, for the year ended 30 June 2018: 

▪ what has been achieved with the appropriation; and 

▪ the actual expenses or capital expenditure incurred compared with the 

appropriated or forecast expenses or capital expenditure; and 

o complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand. 

• the statements of expenses and capital expenditure of the Department on pages 37 to 45  

are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with the requirements of section 

45A of the Public Finance Act 1989. 

• the schedules of non-departmental activities which are managed by the Department on 

behalf of the Crown on pages 66 to 79 present fairly, in all material respects, in 

accordance with the Treasury Instructions: 

o the assets, liabilities, commitments, and contingent liabilities and assets as at 

30 June 2018; and 

o expenses and revenue for the year ended 30 June 2018; and 

o the statement of trust monies for the year ended 30 June 2018. 

Our audit was completed on 30 September 2018. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed. 

The basis for our opinion is explained below and we draw your attention to the uncertainties 
associated with the lease make-good provision in the departmental financial statements. In addition, 
we outline the responsibilities of the Chief Executive and our responsibilities relating to the 
information to be audited, we comment on other information, and we explain our independence. 

Uncertainties associated with the lease make-good provision in the departmental 
financial statements 

Without modifying our opinion, we draw your attention to the make-good provision disclosed in note 
8 of the departmental financial statements. Material uncertainties exist over the estimate of the lease 
make-good provision that mean the amount of the final obligation could differ materially from the 
amount recognised in the financial statements at 30 June 2018. We consider the estimate and the 
related disclosures to be appropriate in the circumstances.   
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Basis for our opinion 

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the Professional and Ethical Standards and the International Standards on Auditing 
(New Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Responsibilities of the auditor 
section of our report. 

We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of the Chief Executive for the information to be audited 

The Chief Executive is responsible on behalf of the Ministry for preparing: 

• financial statements that present fairly the Ministry’s financial position, financial 

performance, and its cash flows, and that comply with generally accepted accounting 

practice in New Zealand; 

• performance information that presents fairly what has been achieved with each 

appropriation, the expenditure incurred as compared with expenditure expected to be 

incurred, and that complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; 

• statements of expenses and capital expenditure of the Department, that are presented 

fairly, in accordance with the requirements of the Public Finance Act 1989; and 

• schedules of non-departmental activities, in accordance with the Treasury Instructions, that 

present fairly those activities managed by the Department on behalf of the Crown. 

The Chief Executive is responsible for such internal control as is determined is necessary to enable the 
preparation of the information to be audited that is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.  

In preparing the information to be audited, the Chief Executive is responsible on behalf of the 
Ministry for assessing the Ministry’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Chief Executive is also 
responsible for disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting, unless there is an intention to merge or to terminate the activities of the 
Department, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Chief Executive’s responsibilities arise from the Public Finance Act 1989. 

Responsibilities of the auditor for the information to be audited 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the information we audited, as a 
whole, is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit carried out in 
accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts or disclosures, and 
can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of readers, taken on the 
basis of the information we audited. 



 

Ministry for Culture and Heritage Annual Report 2017-18/ 83 
 

For the budget information reported in the information we audited, our procedures were limited to 
checking that the information agreed to the Ministry’s Statement of Intent 2015-19 and the relevant 
Estimates and Supplementary Estimates of Appropriations 2017/18, and the 2017/18 forecast 
financial figures included in the Ministry’s 2016/17 Annual Report. 

We did not evaluate the security and controls over the electronic publication of the information we 
audited.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. Also: 

• We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the information we audited, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 

risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 

for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• We obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Ministry’s internal control. 

• We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Chief Executive. 

• We evaluate the appropriateness of the reported performance information within the 

Department’s framework for reporting its performance. 

• We conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting by 

the Chief Executive and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 

uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 

Ministry’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in 

the information we audited or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 

Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 

report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Ministry to cease to continue as 

a going concern. 

• We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the information we audited, 

including the disclosures, and whether the information we audited represents the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the Chief Executive regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.  

Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit Act 2001. 
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Other information 

The Chief Executive is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included on pages 1 to 84 but does not include the information we audited, and our 
auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the information we audited does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of audit opinion or assurance conclusion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the other information. In doing so, we consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the information we audited or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on our work, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We 
have nothing to report in this regard. 

Independence 

We are independent of the Department in accordance with the independence requirements of the 
Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the independence requirements of 
Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised): Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners issued by 
the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.   

Other than in our capacity as auditor, we have no relationship with, or interests, in the Ministry. 
 

 

Chrissie Murray 
Audit New Zealand 
On behalf of the Auditor-General 
Wellington, New Zealand 
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3.0 New Zealand licence. In general, you are free to copy, 
distribute and adapt the work, as long as you attribute the 
work to the Crown and abide by the other license terms. 

 
To view a copy of this license, please visit 
http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/. Please note that 
no departmental or governmental emblem, logo or Coat of 
Arms may be used in any way that infringes any provision of 
the Flags, Emblems, and Names Protection Act 1981. 
Attribution to the Crown should be in written form and not by 
reproduction of any such emblem, logo or Coat of Arms.
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